
 

 
 

 

City of Westminster 
 

  
 

Committee Agenda 
 

Title: 
 

 Children, Sports and Leisure Policy and Scrutiny Committee 

   

Meeting Date: 
 

 Monday 9th May, 2016 

   

Time: 
 

 7.00 pm 

   

Venue: 
 

 Rooms 5, 6 & 7 - 17th Floor, Westminster City Hall, 64 
Victoria Street, London, SW1E 6 QP 

   

Members: 
 

 Councillors: 
 

 

  Andrew Smith (Chairman) 
Rita Begum 
Iain Bott 
Tim Roca 
Adnan Mohammed 
Peter Cuthbertson 
Nick Evans 
Robert Rigby 
 

Elected Voting Representatives 
Aki Turan, Parent Governor 
Annie Ee, Parent Governor 
 
Co-opted Voting Representatives 
Brenda Morrison, Church of England 
Diocese Representative 
Louise McCullough, Roman Catholic 
Diocesan Board Representative 
 
Co-opted non-voting Representatives 
Eugene Moriarty, Headteacher 
St Augustine’s C of E High School 
Darren Guttridge, Headteacher, Edward 
Wilson Primary School 

   

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  
Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting 
and listen to the discussion Part 1 of the Agenda 
 
Admission to the public gallery is by ticket, issued from the 
ground floor reception at City Hall.  If you have a disability 
and require any special assistance please contact the 
Committee Officer (details listed below) in advance of the 
meeting. 
 

   

T
 

 An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for anyone 
wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter.  If you require 
any further information, please contact the Committee 
Officer, Sarah Craddock. 
 
 
Corporate Website: www.westminster.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.westminster.gov.uk/


 

 

Note for Members: Members are reminded that Officer contacts are shown at the end of 
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting.  
With regard to item 2, guidance on declarations of interests is included in the Code of 
Governance; if Members and Officers have any particular questions they should contact 
the Head of Committee and Governance Services in advance of the meeting please. 
 

AGENDA 

PART 1 (IN PUBLIC)  

1.   MEMBERSHIP  

 There are no changes to report.  
 

 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To receive declarations of interest by Members and Officers of 
any personal or prejudicial interests.  
 

 

3.   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8) 

 To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 14 March 2016.  
 

 

4.   TRACKERS AND WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 9 - 22) 

 a) To note the progress in implementing the Committee’s 
Recommendation and Action Trackers. 
 

b) To provide comment and input into the draft Work Programme 
for 2016/17.  

 

 

5.   CABINET MEMBER FOR SPORTS AND LEISURE (Pages 23 - 28) 

 Councillor David Harvey (Cabinet Member for Sports and 
Leisure) to update the Committee on current and forthcoming 
issues in his Portfolio.  
 

 

6.   CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE  

 Councillor Danny Chalkley (Cabinet Member for Children and 
Young People) to update the Committee on current and 
forthcoming issues in his Portfolio.  
 

 

7.   PROMOTING AN ACTIVE WESTMINSTER: A REVIEW OF PE 
AND SCHOOL SPORT IN WESTMINSTER 

(Pages 29 - 40) 

 To examine the strategy and activities relating to PE and school 
sports, including how it impacts on the wider curriculum.    
 

 



 
 

 

8.   OFSTED INSPECTION REPORT: CHILDREN'S SERVICES 
AND YOUTH OFFENDING 

(Pages 41 - 
106) 

 To inform the Committee of the outcome of the two Ofsted 
Inspections.  
 

 

9.   REPORTS OF ANY URGENT SAFEGUARDING ISSUES  

 Verbal Update (if any)  
 

 

10.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS 
URGENT 

 

 
 
Charlie Parker 
Chief Executive 
29 April 2016 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



           
CITY OF WESTMINSTER 
 

CHILDREN, SPORTS AND LEISURE 
POLICY & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

14 MARCH 2016 
MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS 

 
Minutes of a meeting of the Children, Sports and Leisure Policy & Scrutiny 
Committee held on Monday 14 March 2016 at 7pm at Westminster City Hall, 64 
Victoria Street, London SW1E 6QP. 
 
Members Present: Councillors Andrew Smith (Chairman), Iain Bott, Peter Cuthbertson, 
Nick Evans, Adnan Mohammed, Robert Rigby and Tim Roca. 
 
Co-opted Members: Annie Ee and Louise McCullough 
 
Also present: Councillor Paul Church (Deputy Cabinet Member for Children and Young 
People). 
 
Apologies for Absence: Councillor Danny Chalkley, Councillor David Harvey, 
Councillor Rita Begum, Aki Turan, Brenda Morrison, Eugene Moriarty and Darren 
Guttridge. 
 
1. MEMBERSHIP  
 
1.1 It was noted that there were no changes to the membership. 
 
1.2 The Chairman welcomed Councillor Paul Church (Deputy Cabinet Member for 

Children and Young People) to the meeting. 
 
1.3 The Chairman advised that Councillor David Harvey (Cabinet Member for Sports, 

and Leisure) would not be attending the meeting.  Any questions that Members 
had regarding his portfolio would be placed on the Committee’s Action Tracker. 

 
1.4 The Chairman welcomed Filsan Ali, Director of Somalia Development Network 

and Mohammed Hussein, Male Project Worker, from the Female Genital 
Mutilation (FGM) project who would take part in the item on Female Genital 
Mutilation. 

 
 
 
 

MINUTES 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 
2. DECLARATION OF INTEREST 
 
2.1 No further declarations of interests in respect of items to be discussed were 

made, other than those noted in the circulated schedule as set out below in 
paragraph 2.2. 

 
2.2 Table of Member’s interests tabled at the Committee Meeting was as follows: 
 
  
Councillor/Member 
of the Children, 
Sports and Leisure 
P&S Committee 
 

Organisation Nature of Interest 

Iain Bott 
 

Paddington Academy 
 
One Westminster 
 
 

Governor 
 
Non-Voting Member of the Board 
 
 

Annie Ee Hampden Gurney Primary 
School 
 

Parent Governor 

Louise McCullough, 
 

St Vincent de Paul Primary 
School 
 
St Matthews CE Primary 
School 
 
Renaissance Foundation, E2 
 
 
Renaissance Foundation, EC4 

Governor 
 
 
Governor 
 
 
Trustee 
 
 
Mentor for Young People 
 

Adnan Mohammed 
 

St Marys School Governor 

Robert Rigby Our Lady’s Secondary School, 
Hackney  
 
Local Authority Governor 
Appointment Panel 
 

Governor 
 
 
Member 
 

Tim Roca King’s College London Employer 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



 
3. MINUTES  
 
3.1 RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 1 February 2016 be 

approved for signature by the Chairman as a true and correct record of the 
proceedings. 

 
4. ACTION AND RECOMMENDATION TRACKERS AND COMMITTEE WORK 

PROGRAMME 
 
4.1  ACTION AND RECOMMENDATION TRACKERS 
 
4.1.1 RESOLVED:  
 

1. That the Action and Recommendation Trackers be noted. 
 
 4.2 COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 
 
4.2.1 RESOLVED: The Committee agreed to add the following items to their work 

programme: Access to Art education in Westminster, the future and technological 
change of the library service, the Westminster Foundation, Youth Offending 
Policy and the role of Social Workers. 

 
5. QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION: CABINET MEMBER FOR SPORTS 

AND LEISURE  
 
5.1 The Committee received a written update from the Cabinet Member which 

covered current and forthcoming issues in his Portfolio.   
 
6. QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION: CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN 

AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
 
6.1 The Committee received an update from the Deputy Cabinet Member who 

responded to questions relating to: 
 

 the successful Ofsted inspection of Children’s Services. 

 the importance of encouraging people to volunteer to become mentors. 

 the benefits of the Education Excellence Programme and the additional funding 
given to all Westminster secondary schools to support GCSEs. 

 the Multi-Agency Sexual Exploitation (MASE) Panel and their focus on changing 
young people’s attitudes and disrupting perpetrator’s activities. 

 the sports and leisure facilities available for disabled children. 

 the take up of free school meals by eligible families. 

 the benefits of one to one mentoring offered to young people leaving custody and 
those at risk of custody.  

 

Page 3



6.2 The Committee thanked Councillors Robert Rigby and Paul Church for their hard 
work and support in hosting a very successful reception at the House of 
Commons for the Westminster school governors and for the hard work Councillor 
Robert Rigby puts into chairing the Local Governor’s Panel. 

 
6.3 The Chairman thanked both officers and Councillors for all their hard work in 

achieving a very successful Ofsted inspection of Children’s Services. 
 
6.4 ACTIONS: 
 

1. That information be sent on numbers eligible for free school meals within 
Westminster along with a comparison with similar London Boroughs. 
 

2. That information be sent on how Westminster supports disabled children and 
the services currently provided by the Council with details of any planned 
restructuring. 

 
3. That the intervention(s) with four Westminster children referred to Children’s 

Services in relation to Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) and the subsequent 
outcomes be circulated to the Committee. 

 
4. The possibility of providing table formatted data for the past three/five years to 

the Committee where applicable.   
 
 

7. FEMALE GENITAL MUTILATION 
 
7.1 The Committee received a report outlining the actions that were currently being 

taken to prevent Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) in Westminster.  The 
Committee noted that as many as 770 school age girls in Westminster could be 
at risk of FGM with some 250 at a high risk. 

 
7.2 The Committee heard from Debbie Raymond, Head of Safeguarding and Quality, 

how FGM was a form of child abuse that was complex, sudden, traumatic and 
hidden and that preventative approaches were the only way to effectively protect 
girls from harm.  The Committee noted the steps taken to prevent FGM including 
an innovative based project based at St Mary’s Hospital and an extensive 
programme of community engagement work.  The Committee also noted the new 
mandatory reporting in relation of FGM. 

 
7.3 The Committee welcomed Filsan Ali, Director of the Midaye Somalia 

Development Network, who discussed with the Committee the design and 
delivery of the FGM community based project.  The Committee heard that it was 
very important that the community drove the project in order for it to have an 
impact on families’ cultural beliefs.  The Committee noted that FGM was a very 
sensitive issue and that it was easier for the community centre to encourage 
people to open up about FGM than traditional statutory services. 

Page 4



 
7.4 The Committee also welcomed Mohammed Hussein, Male Project Worker, who 

discussed with the Committee working with young men, fathers and Imams on 
FGM. The Committee heard that FGM was mainly controlled by men in the 
community but that they were not involved or engaged in the whole FGM process 
and rarely understood the psychological and health problems it caused to 
women.  The Committee noted that educating the whole community around the 
health and legal implications of FGM was essential in preventing it. 

 
7.5 Some of the key issues that emerged from the Committee’s discussion were: 
 

 the importance of having a male project worker which could directly engage with 
males in the community to discuss the impact of FGM on girls. 

 the importance of the summer campaign which aimed to raise awareness in 
communities and throughout professional networks about the risk to girls over the 
summer months. 

 the importance of holding FGM discussions during community events/forums, in 
schools and mosques.  

 the need for sustainable funding for this important ground-breaking project. 

 the factors considered when identifying girls at risk, the different types of FGM 
performed and the misconception that FGM was a religious practice.  

 the importance of the community understanding both how harmful FGM was to 
women and the legal implications of continuing to carry out this practice. 

 the need for all social workers and practitioners to receive appropriate training. 
 
7.6 The Chairman thanked everyone who had given up their time to attend the 
 meeting and contribute to the discussion.  
 
7.7 RESOLVED: The Committee made the following comments which would be 

forwarded to the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People for 
consideration: 

 
1. The Committee welcomed the report and supported the efforts of the Council  

to work with community organisations to tackle FGM. 
 

2. The Committee highlighted the importance of engaging with men as well as 
women on addressing some of the beliefs around FGM and supported the 
proactive engagement with religious leaders to highlight the health problems 
and dangers of FGM for women. 
 

3. The Committee supported the need for sustainable funding for the project and 
supported efforts to identify funding from various sources. 

 
4. The Committee emphasised the importance that all social workers and 

practitioners were trained in countering FGM and the issues involved. 
  

Page 5



 
8. CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION 
 
8.1 The Committee received a report outlining how Westminster Children’s Services 

tackle Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE).  The Committee noted that this was a 
priority area for the Council and the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) 
and that it was one of the most challenging areas of safeguarding children and 
required a strong multi agency approach.   

 
8.2 The Committee heard from Melissa Caslake, Director of Family Services, that 

child sexual exploitation (CSE) could take on many forms; typically in 
Westminster it involved peer on peer abuse usually linked with gangs, crime 
drinking alcohol and substance abuse.  The Committee further heard about the 
different levels of interventions available when a referral of CSE was received.  
The Committee noted that Westminster participated in the Police Operation 
Makesafe.  It involved hotels, hostels, pubs and taxi firms to alert them to CSE 
risks.   

 
8.3 Some of the key issues that emerged from the Committee’s discussion were: 
 

 the welcomed news that the police had committed additional resources to CSE 
so that all cases were now fully investigated. 

 the different interventions available to help victims recognise abusive 
relationships.  

 the careful monitoring of all Looked After Children (LAC) placed in and outside of 
Westminster by maintaining strong multi agency links with professionals working 
with LAC children to detect actual or potential CSE. 

 the joined up working that the Council and the Police had undertaken to reduce 
gangs’ ability to sexual exploit vulnerable young people sexually. 

 child runaways and missing children. 

 the role of the CSE Tri-Borough Officer and the importance of prevention in 
schools and youth clubs. 

 the responsibility of both officers and Members to manage a healthy political 
system with the correct balances and checks in place. 

 the CSE training that Operation Makesafe had carried out with officers in other 
departments e.g., Licensing and Community Safety.  

 the importance of all public facing WCC employees receiving CSE training. 
 
8.4 RESOLVED: The Committee made the following comments which would be 

forwarded to the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People for 
consideration: 

 
1. The Committee welcomed the report and the multi-agency approach to  

tackling Child Sexual Exploitation. 
 

Page 6



2. The Committee highlighted the importance of protecting Westminster’s 
Looked After Children (LAC) whether they were placed in or out of borough 
and the importance of sharing information and joint working with other local 
authorities. 

 
3. The Committee welcomed raising Child Sexual Exploitation awareness in 

Westminster Schools. 
 

 
9. SCHOOL ORGANISATION AND INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2016 
  
9.1 The Committee received a report outlining pupil place planning in Westminster 

and the draft School Organisation and Investment Strategy 2016 which provided 
details on projected pupil numbers and plans for providing new school places.   

 
9.2 The Committee welcomed Ian Heggs, Tri-Borough Director of Schools Quality 

and Standards and Alan Wharton, Tri-Borough Head of Asset Strategy 
(Children’s Services) who discussed working with existing academy sponsors, 
budget constraints arising from the absence of further Basic Need grant 
allocations, rising tender prices in the construction industry and the desirability of 
seeking financial contributions from developers as new homes increase the 
demand for school places. 

 
9.3 The Committee noted that the Strategy anticipated the increasing need for 

additional secondary school pupil places and the flexible approach to providing 
these places by working with the DfE to open new free schools in areas of 
greatest need, e.g. ARK Atwood and Marylebone Boys School.  The previous 
focus on additional primary places had been successfully implemented.  

 
9.4 The Committee discussed the creative ways and principles that would guide 

Westminster in providing more pupil places, work with academy sponsors to 
assist in delivering additional places, the work carried out by the Admissions 
Team on encouraging parents to make realistic preference choices on their 
school admission form and that many secondary school pupils preferred to 
attend local secondary schools. 

 
9.5 The Committee welcomed the report and the proposed additional secondary 

school places in Westminster schools.  The Committee also commented the 
range of different schools and school places available in Westminster.  

 
9.6 ACTION: That the information contained in Appendix 7 be checked and if 

necessary an updated copy be circulated to the Committee. 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



10. EXEMPT REPORT UNDER LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

10.1 RESOLVED: That under Section 100 (A) (4) and schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the following 
item of business because it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information 
on the grounds shown below: 

 

 Item No Grounds     Para of Part 1 of 
         Schedule 12A of the Act 
 
      10.  Information relating to an individual      1 
 
 
 
 
11. UPDATE ON SAFEGUARDING ISSUES (verbal update – see agenda item 10) 
 
11.1 The Committee received an update in relation to two serious case reviews. 
 
 
12. TERMINATION OF MEETING 
 
12 .1 The meeting ended at 9.13pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAIRMAN _____________________  DATE ________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 

Page 8



 

ROUND FOUR 2014/15  (26 January 2015) 
 

Agenda Item Recommendation and responsible 
officer 

Update 

Early Help Strategy  That further promotion of the two 
year old offer and an update on 
uptake at regular intervals be 
reported back to the Committee.  
The Committee endorsed the 
importance of early intervention in 
a child’s development. Steve 
Comber 
 

Ongoing.  
 
 
 
 
 

 

ROUND SEVEN 2014/15  (21 April 2015) 
 

Agenda Item Action and responsible officer/ 
Cabinet member   

Update 

Looked After Children  To ascertain as to whether it would 
be appropriate for members to 
attend a future meeting of the 
Corporate Parenting Board to gain 
an insight into its work. Melissa 
Caslake/Glen Peache 

A report on improving Cllr 
activities as Corporate 
Parents will be considered 
by Cllr Chalkey who will 
update the Committee in 
due course. 

 

ROUND FOUR 2015/16  (1 February 2016) 
 

Agenda Item Action and responsible officer/ 
Cabinet member   

Update 

Item 4. 
Committee Work 
Programme 

GCSE to ‘A’ Level School Transition, 
Gangs and associated violence and 
Youth offending. 
Anne Pollock 

 

The workplan for 2016/17 is 
being agreed.   

 

 

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



ROUND FIVE 2015/16  (14 March 2016) 
 

Agenda Item Action and responsible officer/ 
Cabinet member   

Update 

Item 4. 
Committee Work 
Programme 

To add the following items to their 
work programme: Access to Art 
education in Westminster, the 
future and technological change of 
the library service, the 
Westminster Foundation, Youth 
Offending Policy and the role of 
Social Workers. Anne Pollock 
 

The workplan for 2016/17 is 
being agreed.   

Q&A: Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young People  
 

1. That information be sent on 
who was eligible for free school 
meals within Westminster along 
with comparing the numbers 
with other London Boroughs. 
 

2. That information be sent on 
how Westminster supports 
disabled children and the 
services currently provided by 
the Council along with any 
planned restructuring. 
 

3. That the intervention(s) with 
four Westminster children 
referred to Children’s Services 
in relation to Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE) and the 
subsequence outcomes be 
circulated to the Committee. 
 

4. The possibility of providing table 
formatted data for the past 
three/five years to the 
Committee where applicable.   

 

Information circulated to 
Committee on 8th April 
 
 
 
 
Information circulated to 
Committee on 8th April 
 
 
 
 
 
Information circulated to 
Committee on 6th April 
 
  

Item 7.   
Female Genital Mutilation 
(FGM) 

The Committee made the following 
comments which would be 
forwarded to the Cabinet Member 
for Children and Young People for 
consideration: 

 
1. The Committee welcomed the 
report and supported the efforts of 
the Council to work with 
community organisations to tackle 
FGM. 

 

Recommendations have 
been forwarded to the 
Cabinet Member for 
Children & Young People 
and a response is awaited.  

Page 10



2. The Committee highlighted the 
importance of engaging with men 
as well as women on addressing 
some of the beliefs around FGM 
and supported the proactive 
engagement with religious leaders 
to highlight the health problems 
and dangers of FGM for women. 

 
3. The Committee supported the 
need for sustainable funding for 
the project and supported efforts 
to identify funding from various 
sources. 

 

4. The Committee emphasised the 
importance that all social workers 
and practitioners received 
appropriate FGM training and 
were aware of the issues 
surrounding this practice. 
 
Anne Pollock 

Item 8. 
Child Sexual Exploitation 
(CSE) 

The Committee made the following 
comments which would be 
forwarded to the Cabinet Member 
for Children and Young People for 
consideration: 
 
1. The Committee welcomed the 
report and the multi-agency 
approach to addressing the issue 
of CSE. 
 
2. The Committee highlighted the 
importance of protecting 
Westminster’s Looked After 
Children (LAC) whether they were 
placed in or out of borough and 
the importance of sharing 
information and joint working with 
other local authorities. 
 
3. The Committee welcomed 
raising the awareness of Child 
Sexual Exploitation in Westminster 
Schools. 
 
Anne Pollock 
 

Recommendations have 
been forwarded to the 
Cabinet Member for 
Children & Young People 
and a response is awaited. 

Page 11



Item 9.  
School Organisation and 
Investment Strategy 

An updated Appendix 9 be 
circulated to the Committee. 
Alan Wharton 

Information circulated to 
Committee 22nd April 2016 

 

 

Page 12



 

 

 

 

Children, Sport & Leisure Policy and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 
 

Date: 
 

9th May 2016 

Classification: 
 

General Release  
 

Title: 
 

Annual Work programme 2016/17 

Report of: 
 

Director of Policy, Performance and Communications 

Cabinet Member Portfolio 
 

Cabinet Member for Children and Young People and 
Cabinet Member for Sports and Leisure 
  

Wards Involved: 
 

All  
 

Policy Context: 
 

City for Choice / Aspiration 

Report Author and  
Contact Details: 
 

Anne Pollock x2757 
apollock@westminster.gov.uk  

 
1. Executive Summary 

 This report presents to Committee the responsibilities and scope of the 
committee’s work and draft work programme for the year. The report also 
provides some criteria that the committee may wish to consider in prioritising 
its work programme. 

2. Key Matters for the Committee’s Consideration 

The Committee is asked to: 
 

 Note the terms of reference and duties of the committee 

 Discuss the criteria suggested for prioritising items 

 Discuss and agree a version of the work programme that is achievable, 
bearing in mind the need for some flexibility throughout the year. 

 

Page 13

mailto:apollock@westminster.gov.uk


 

 

3. Background 

  
3.1 The Remit of the Committee  
 
Under Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 local authorities are required to 
appoint at least one committee to provide overview and scrutiny. In Westminster 
these are termed Policy and Scrutiny committees, recognising their contribution to 
pro-active policy development as well as reviews of existing services and policies. 
 
The Children, Sport and Leisure Committee is the designated scrutiny of Education 
committee. Due to the Education remit of this Committee, the Council has a duty to 
ensure that this Committee shall include in its membership the following 
representatives: 
 
(a) 1 Church of England diocese representative; 
(b) 1 Roman Catholic diocese representative; and 
(c) 2 parent governor representatives. 
 
A further two co-optees are headteachers from both a primary and secondary 
schools. 

The Committee scrutinises the broad range of important issues that make up 
the portfolios of the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People and the Cabinet 
Portfolio for Sports and Leisure. 

They examine executive decisions, monitor performance and develop and review 
policy on the Council’s education function for children and young people, including 
the opportunities for education, training and learning outside the school environment 
and pre-school learning. The Committee also considers the development of 
strategies and works with partner organisations and groups to be a ‘critical friend’ to 
Council departments and Cabinet Members. 
 
The Committee’s remit also includes the Sports and Leisure portfolio, which includes 
our libraries and registration service, neighbourhoods and civic engagement 
including ward budgets, volunteering and advice services, the Olympic legacy, 
Localism Act (community rights), parks and open spaces, cemeteries and mortuaries, 
arts and culture, Queen’s Park Community Council. 

 

Policy & Scrutiny Task Groups 

At Westminster, Task Groups are a more focused and intensive tool of the Overview 
and Scrutiny function. Task Groups offer Members an opportunity to work in small 
groups, supported by officers, to collate and assess evidence in a cross-party 
environment and make recommendations based on a substantial amount of collected 
evidence. Task Groups are supported by Scrutiny Officers. 

 

 

Page 14

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/section/21


 

 

Pre-Decision Task Groups – those that meet to input and influence strategies in 
development, prior to a decision being made by the Cabinet Member (e.g. Cycling Strategy 
Task Group, Highways and Transportation Contract Re-Let Task Group) 
 
Research Task Groups – where a group of Members meet, in person or virtually, to 
undertaken a research project and report back to the Committee for endorsement (e.g. Sex 
Workers). 
 
Single-Member Studies (SMS) – where a Member is granted approval by a Committee 
Chairman to undertake research and report back to the Committee for endorsement (e.g. 
Party Drugs, Childhood Obesity) 
 
Tri-Borough Task Groups – where a group of Members (commissioned by a Chairman) 
meet from across the three Boroughs to undertake site visits or research on a shared 
concern (e.g. Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust) 

 

 
 
3.2 Devising a Scrutiny Work Plan 
 
The Centre for Public Scrutiny published a report called “A cunning plan?” in 2011 
which discusses the ways and criteria that may be used to devise a work programme 
which adds value to the authorities work. This notes that: 
  

o Gut instinct can be as effective as complicated feasibility criteria in 
coming up with shortlists for review 

o Having a proper discussion about the work programme can work better 
than a set of criteria  

o If on balance criteria are used, it is important to have them as simple 
and comprehensive as possible 

o Work programming should be a member led process 
o Ensure that there is a balance between different methods of work 
o Close working with the executive is important to avoid duplication  

 
The report highlights a set of criteria used by South Cambridgeshire which the 
committee are asked to consider and apply if agreed. 
 
Public Interest: the concerns of local people should influence the issues chosen for 
scrutiny (City for All annual resident survey) 
Ability to change: priority should be given to issues that the committee can 
realistically influence. 
Performance: priority should be given to the areas in which the Council or other 
agencies are not performing well. (Consideration of KPI’s and other performance 
data) 
Extent- priority should be given to issues that are relevant to all or large parts of the 
City 
Replication: work programmes should take account of what else is happening in the 
areas being considered to avoid duplication or wasted effort. 
 
Appendix 2 provides guidance previously provided to this committee to help you 
establish a work programme. This guidance is still relevant today. 

Page 15



 

 

 
 

3.4 Draft Work Programme  
This is attached as Appendix 1 for discussion 
 
 

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any of the 
Background Papers  please contact Anne Pollock x2757 

apollock@westminster.gov.uk 

 
APPENDICES: 
 
Appendix 1- Guidance on establishing a work programme 
Appendix 2 -Draft Work Programme for 2016/17 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
A cunning plan?  Devising a scrutiny work programme –published 2011 by the 
Centre for Public Scrutiny. 
 
http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=113&offset=0  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16

http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=113&offset=0


 

 

APPENDIX 2 

 

ESTABLISHING A WORK PROGRAMME - SELECTION CRITERIA 

The following guidance on selection criteria has been designed to assist the 
Committee in its task of choosing topics for the work programme, in terms of both 
judging the individual issues proposed and the shape of the overall programme of 
topics being scrutinised. It is intended as guidance only and is not prescriptive.   

 

Judging an individual suggestion 

 

 Is the suggestion specific enough?  For effective scrutiny to take place, a task 
group/committee will need to pin down exactly what they are scrutinising. 

 

 Is the suggestion achievable?  Consider what resources are required and assess 
whether the limitations of time; the O&S budget; and Officer and Member capacity 
will prevent a suitable outcome being achieved. 

 

 Will scrutiny of the suggested item produce tangible results? 
 

 Is the suggestion appropriate for engaging the public? Is this an issue of 
importance to Westminster residents? Is this an area where a lot of bad press or 
complaints are received? 

 

 Will scrutiny of the suggested item have sufficient impact? To maximise outcomes 
it is often better to concentrate on issues of concern that impact upon the well-
being of a large number of people. 

 

 Does the suggestion duplicate work that is already being carried out? Is the 
service about to be inspected by an external body? Are there any major legislative 
or policy initiatives already resulting in change or about to impact on the service?   

 

Assessing the Committee’s Overall Programme 

 

 Is the work programme balanced? Is the planned work evenly spread over the 
municipal year and are the topics balanced in terms of the scope of the 
Committee’s remit? 

 

 Is the work programme too onerous? It is important to hold some capacity in 
reserve for any urgent issues that might arise.   

 
 
 

 

Page 17



 

 

Appendix 2 
 

ROUND ONE - 20 June 2016 
Main Theme – Sport, Leisure and Open Spaces/ Children and Young People 

 

Agenda Item Reasons & objective for item Represented by: 

Cabinet Member questioning  To hold to account and give ‘critical 
friend’ challenge to the portfolio 
holder. 
 

Cabinet Member for Sport, 
Leisure and Open Spaces  

Prevent Community Cohesion Commission 
will publish a report on its findings 
in Sept/Oct and placement in June 
will enable the Committee to feed 
into the Prevent elements included 
in the report.  
   

Mark Chalmers 

Focus on Practice Programme 
– Year review  
 
 
 
 
 

Phase 1 is now complete but it was 
noted that WCC is now a partner in 
Practice with DoE. We can bid for 
more funding and will know in the 
Summer if this bid has been 
successful.  

Julie Rooke 
 
 
 

 
 

ROUND TWO - 17 October 2016 
Main Theme – Children and Young People 

 

Agenda Item Reasons & objective for item Represented by: 

Cabinet Member questioning  To hold to account and give ‘critical 
friend’ challenge to the portfolio 
holder. 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young People 

Annual Looked After Children 
Report 

Look at different meeting to 
change the issues – no single social 
care meeting. This update was also 
requested at Committee on 15th 
April 2015.  
 

Glen Peache 
Jean Daintith  

Annual Safeguarding Review 
 
 
 

To examine the work of the  
Safeguarding Board in the last year  
and the plans for the following 
year. This could examine any 
recent Serious Case reviews and 
trafficking. 
 

Tri Borough Safeguarding 
Officers  
Board chair: Jean Daintith 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 

 

ROUND THREE – 28 November 2016 
Main Theme –Children and Young People 

 

Agenda Item Reasons & objective for item Represented by: 

Cabinet Member questioning  To hold to account and give ‘critical 
friend’ challenge to the portfolio 
holder. 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young People 

Annual Education Report  The committee will evaluate the 
key areas of success and areas to 
be developed in the Annual 
Education Report.  
 

Ian Heggs 
  

Libraries Transformation 
 

To analyse the libraries 
transformation programme. 
 

Mike Clarke 
 

 

ROUND FOUR – 6 February 2017 
Main Theme – Sport, Leisure and Open Spaces 

 

Agenda Item Reasons & objective for item Represented by: 

Cabinet Member questioning  To hold to account and give ‘critical 
friend’ challenge to the portfolio 
holder. 

Cabinet Member for Sport, 
Leisure and Open Spaces  

Community Engagement  To review the new programme 
and its first year, including Open 
Forums. 
 

Neil Wholey 

Troubled Families Year 2 To review Year 2 of the Troubled 
Families Service and suggest areas 
to be developed.  
 

Melissa Caslake 
 

 

ROUND FIVE – 13 March 2017 
Main Theme – Children and Young People 

 

Agenda Item Reasons & objective for item Represented by: 

Cabinet Member questioning  To hold to account and give ‘critical 
friend’ challenge to the portfolio 
holder. 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young People 

SEN 6-Month Milestone 
Report 

To review the SEN Programme Ian Heggs 
 

Families of Service Personnel 
Update (For Information – 
Briefing note) 
 

An annual update on the service 
was requested by the Committee 
in February 2016.  

Steve Bywater 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



 

 

ROUND SIX – 15 May 2017 
Main Theme – Children and Young People 

 

Agenda Item Reasons & objective for item Represented by: 

Cabinet Member questioning  To hold to account and give ‘critical 
friend’ challenge to the portfolio 
holder. 

Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young People 

Access to the Cultural Offer 
in Westminster for Young 
People 

To examine the uptake of the 
cultural offer by Young People and 
how the relationships with partner 
organisations work with the 
institutions based in Westminster. 
 

Mike Clarke 

School Meals 
Contract/Healthy Schools 
(Briefing Note for 
information)  
 

School meals contract mobilised in 
Westminster in April 2016. AHPP 
examining Healthy Schools in 
March 2017.  
 

Annabel Saunders 

 
 

Unallocated items 
 

Review of Youth Services/ Young Westminster 

Foundation 

To analyse the changes to the Youth Services 

(Rachael Wright-Turner) 

Reduction in Fostering Numbers/Regionalisation 

of Adoption 

Changes to the adoption and fostering 

services to be tracked through Cabinet 

Member updates to the Committee (Annabel 

Saunders)  

Action for Change 

To examine the work with organisations from 

Italy/Romania/UK/Hungary on mothers 

affected by domestic violence and the impact 

on their children (see RBKC). (Natasha 

Bishopp) 

The Two Year-Old Offer in Early Intervention 

To examine the promotion of the two year old 

offer and an update on uptake. A regular 

update to the Committee on this was agreed 

at P&S in January 2015.  

GCSE to ‘A’ Level School Transition 
 

To examine the promotion of the two year old 

offer and an update on uptake. A regular 

update to the Committee on this was agreed 

at P&S in February 2016. 

The Role of Social Workers 
 

To examine the role of Social Workers, as 

requested at P&S in March 2016. 

Local Area Inspection Self-Assessment and 
Action Plan 

To analyse the local area inspection self-
assessment and action plan.  

 

Page 20

https://www.rbkc.gov.uk/community-and-local-life/community-safety/action-change/action-change


 

 

 
Other Committee Events & Task Groups 

 

Group/ Issue Update Type 

Youth Mental 

Health 

Meeting dates tbc.  T/G 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Children, Sports and 
Leisure Policy and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
 

Date: 
 

Monday, 9th May 2016 

Report of: 
 

Cllr David Harvey 
 

Portfolio: 
 

Cabinet Member for Sports and Leisure 

Report Author and  
Contact Details: 
 

Cllr David Harvey 
davidharvey@westminster.gov.uk  

 
1. Sports and Leisure 

 
The Active Queens Park Project - the redevelopment of Moberly & Jubilee Sports 
Centres 
 

1.1 Positive progress is being made with the Active Queens Park project. Works have 
commenced on site for both Moberly and Jubilee phase 1 and demolition works have been 
undertaken on time. The contractor is progressing communications activities to ensure local 
residents and stakeholders are informed. 
 

1.2 The works to deliver the new Moberly Centre are planned to complete in February 2018. The 
existing Jubilee Centre will remain open until the new facility at Moberly is opened to the 
public. 
 

Seymour and Queen Mother Re-Developments 
 

1.3 ‘Outline Business Cases’ are being developed by Officers in Growth, Planning and Housing 
as part of the development of initial feasibility studies for these sites.   
 

1.4 A key objective for any re-development project will be to deliver an enhanced sports and 
leisure offer for the local community. 
 

1.5 A full public consultation programme will be implemented to ensure stakeholders are 
engaged as part of the development of proposals for these sites. 
 

Outdoor Learning- the Sayers Croft Centre 
 

1.6 A new ‘Forest School’ outreach programme has been successfully launched at Paddington 
Recreation Ground. The externally funded programme provides an opportunity for local 
school children to experience a range of activities and learning opportunities in biodiversity 
and outdoor education. The programme will be delivered by qualified staff based at the 
Sayers Croft Centre.    
 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5

mailto:davidharvey@westminster.gov.uk


 

1.7 Works to improve one of the residential blocks have been commissioned in response to 
feedback from customers. The works will ensure that en-suite accommodation is provided 
within the block (which is the only accommodation block not to provide these facilities. 
 
Leisure Centre contract re-let 
 

1.8 Officers are progressing with the procurement of the contract which is due to commence 
from 1st July 2016. It is a 10 year management contract and includes the management of the 
Council’s entire sports and leisure centre portfolio which includes the following sites: 
 

 Paddington Recreation Ground 

 Queen Mother Sports Centre 

 Marshall Street Leisure Centre 

 Seymour Leisure Centre 

 The Porchester Centre, Spa and Hall 

 Little Venice Sports Centre 

 The new Moberly Sports Centre  

 The new Jubilee Sports Centre  
 

1.9 Following a thorough evaluation process, Sports and Leisure Management (SLM) has been 
awarded the new leisure management contract. SLM was created in 1987 and is an 
established leisure management contractor. They currently manage over 110 leisure and 
cultural facilities across the UK and have partnership contracts with over 35 local authorities 
including Brent, Harrow, Ealing, Sutton and Southwark. 
 

1.10 The new contract will not only realise significant savings for the Council to ensure that 
current and future Medium Term Planning commitments can be delivered but also ensure 
that investment in wider sports development can be maintained.  
 

1.11 As part of the process, a number of new improvements have been secured which include: 
 

 £9m capital investment in a number of improvements to facilities and new equipment across 
the centres 

 130 hours of ‘free to access’ sport and physical activities per week through the 
ActiveCommunities and Neighbourhood Sports Club programme 

 Exercise referral as part of the base specification for the service 

 New financial support for local talented athletes 

 Improved marketing and communications activities 

 Improved opportunities to promote local employment including new apprenticeships  
 

1.12 The mobilisation of the new contract is progressing. All GLL staff who currently work in the 
Council’s eight centres will be protected through the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Employment) or TUPE regulations and will automatically transfer to the new contractor in 
July. 
 
Christ Church Bentinck and Greenhouse Sports 
 

1.13 Officers continue to work closely with Greenhouse Sports regarding the redevelopment of 
their new facility on the corner of Cosway and Bell St (Church St Ward).   
 

1.14 The new facility will be used for table tennis, judo, multi sports and events and will also 
provide a variety of community based activities. 
 

Page 24



 

1.15 Planning permission for the new facility has now been approved and Officers continue to 
provide support to the club with funding submissions and operational considerations.  
 
Westminster Mile  
 

1.16 The 2016 Vitality Westminster Mile will take place on 29th May and planning is progressing 
well. This flagship event is now in its fourth year and officers are involved in planning for the 
event alongside the London Marathon (LM) Team.   
 

1.17 A new website has been launched based on the same platform as LMs other websites and 
events. As part of these improvements, a new registration system will be introduced which 
should improve the customer experience. 
 

1.18 Over 4,500 registrations have been achieved to date and attendance numbers are on track 
to exceed the 2015 levels. The event will include a variety of races which will involve families, 
adult and elite races. Over 60 ex-Olympians will participate. 
 
 

2 Libraries and Culture  
 
Victoria Library 
 

2.1 In 2009, Land Securities was granted planning permission for the Nova development, to 
include a new library expected by 2018. The new application was determined in January and 
the s106 has now been amended so that the community space will be delivered to the City 
Council at a peppercorn rent. All other terms remain the same. 
 
Westminster Reference Library 
 

1.2 Damage to the library vaults below St Martin’s Street was discovered just before Easter. 
Remedial work resulted in the closure of the street and the building from noon on 30th March 
until 10.00am on 4 April.  Surveyors have yet to confirm whether the cause of the damage is 
related to the major development on the Odeon/ Radisson site opposite or to sewer works 
previously carried out by Thames Water. Westminster City Council Corporate Property is 
investigating. 
 
Marylebone Library 
 

2.2 I continue to be in regular contact with Ward Members to brief them about the Marylebone 
Library development.  
 
 

3 Parks, Open Spaces and Cemeteries 
 
Park Events 
 

3.1 On Saturday 16th April Councillor Robert Davis unveiled the Charlie Chaplin statue which has 
been reinstated back to Leicester Square. 
 
Rough Sleeping 
 

3.2 The number of rough sleepers using the parks and gardens has continued to  increase to a 
significant number with warmer weather conditions, mainly in Lisson Gardens, Cavendish 
Square, Hanover Square, Whitehall Gardens and Marble Arch. The parks team are working 

Page 25



 

with a number of agencies to try to resolve the problems and offer support to the homeless 
groups. 
 
Pathways Deep Cleaning 
 

3.3 The grounds maintenance contractor has carried out a significant programme of ‘deep clean’ 
pressure washing to improve the surface of pathways mainly in St Johns Wood Church 
Grounds and the Victoria Embankment Gardens. 
 
Play areas  
 

3.4 Several play areas were refurbished during the relatively quiet winter period.  New play 
equipment has been installed in Violet Hill, Causton Street, Paddington Street, Broadley 
Street, Lisson Gardens and Westbourne Green. 
 
Re-turfing 
 

3.5 The large shrub area on the boundary of Paddington Street South has been reduced by 70% 
to improve maintenance and reduce unsociable behaviour. The area has been turfed and will 
be a valuable addition for park users. 

 
3.6 Mount Street Gardens has also had a large area of a poor quality grass re-turfed. 
 
3.7 The dog area at St Georges Square Gardens has had 50% of the grass area re-turfed when 

this area is established then the remaining 50% will be re-turfed. 
 
3.8 The large shrub area on the boundary of Westbourne Green adjacent to the Harrow Road 

has been removed; the new seeded grass area has germinated with great success. All of the 
recently planted new hedging has also successfully become established. 
 
 

4 Volunteering and Voluntary Sector 
 
Do-It local website 
 

4.1 The Council commissioned Do-It to build a local version of the national Do-It website (Do-It 
Westminster) which went live mid-February 2016 (https://do-it.westminster.gov.uk/). 

 
4.2 The Do-It Westminster site is now running successfully and is being used.  As at 30th  March, 

there were 464 live opportunities in Westminster. In the week prior to that, 162 people 
registered their interest, 30 opportunities and 124 organisations were added.   Overall, 672 
hours have now been logged by volunteers for opportunities in Westminster.  
 
Volunteer Outreach & Development 
 

4.3 The Council has commissioned One Westminster to provide a targeted outreach and 
development service designed (amongst other things) to provide initial support and advice for 
those organisations or individuals who need help using the Do-It Westminster website.   

 
4.4 One Westminster is also responsible for promoting the website and held a formal launch 

event to their work on 16th March at the Paddington Arts Centre. The event was very well 
attended (by 48 different voluntary organisations and community groups). It successfully 
promoted the Do-It Team Westminster website, One Westminster’s role in promoting 
volunteering amongst harder to reach groups and the Team Westminster Flagship 
programme, with presentations from Groundwork and Time Credits to promote their work 

Page 26

https://do-it.westminster.gov.uk/


 

around volunteering. There was also a workshop to discuss how organisations can develop 
suitable volunteering opportunities for the hard to reach groups.  

 
4.5 One Westminster also delivered a total of 33 ad-hoc or regular outreach sessions in the first 

quarter. 30 volunteers attended the March monthly “Introduction to Volunteering Workshop” 
run in partnership with Westminster Adult Education Service. A high proportion of attendees 
were unemployed and new to volunteering but homeless clients and people with mental 
health issues also attended the course.  They also have bi-weekly drop services at it Chapel 
Street office to work with clients with higher support needs. 
 
Volunteering at the Council 
 

4.6 Volunteering is a key pledge in City for All and as part of our volunteering strategy to ‘lead by 
example’, Council staff are encouraged to volunteer for up to 16 hours per year. The most 
recent volunteering session involved 46 staff members from the Policy, Performance & 
Communications department who took part in a half day volunteering session from 1-6 April 
2016 on a variety of projects from running employability workshops to painting/decorating a 
community centre as well as gardening project at any home for the elderly.  Opportunities 
were provided by Time & Talents which is a service run by One Westminster on an annual 
subscription.   
 

4.7 We are looking at ways to encourage more staff to get involved in further volunteering & the 
internal communications team will increase publicity through the Wire and plan to showcase 
tailored opportunities via a drop-in stand (in a prominent location during peak periods) at City 
Hall for the summer and in the run up to Christmas. 
 
 

5 Community Engagement 
 
Open Forum Website 
 

5.1 Response to the new Open Forum website continues to be positive. Over 3,000 people have 
now visited the Open Forum website and nearly 900 people have taken part in a consultation 
or left a comment. 
 

5.2 The website has been used to help gather views on the Baker Street Two-way proposals, 
cycling, mental health and the City Save scheme.    
 

5.3 We are in discussions with individual services, and CityWestHomes, about how we can use 
the Open Forum approach to help engage with the public. 

 

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any of the Background 
Papers  please contact Lucy Hoyte x5729 lhoyte@westminster.gov.uk  

 

Page 27

mailto:lhoyte@westminster.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

 

 

Children, Sports and Leisure 
Policy and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Date: 
 

Monday 9th May 2016 

Classification: 
 

General Release 
 

Title: 
 

Promoting an ActiveWestminster: A review of PE and 
School Sport in Westminster.  
 

Report of: 
 

Head of Sport and Wellbeing 

Cabinet Member Portfolio 
 

Cabinet Member for Sports and Leisure  

 
Wards Involved: 
 

All  
 

Policy Context: 
 

City for All / ActiveWestminster Strategy 

Report Author and  
Contact Details: 
 

Andy Durrant, Head of Sport and Wellbeing.  
adurrant@westminster.gov.uk  

1. Executive Summary 

1.1 The Council’s ActiveWestminster strategy is currently being refreshed with a 
new publication to be launched in 2016.  The current strategy provides a clear 
framework in which to develop sport and physical activity services to all those 
that live, study and visit the City of Westminster.  
 

1.2 A key priority within the Council’s ActiveWestminster Sport and Physical Activity 
Strategy is to provide opportunities which lead to increased participation in 
sport and physical activity by children and young people.  A core part of this 
strategy is improving the quantity and quality of PE & school sport (PESS) and 
this remains a central pillar of the work that the Sports Unit team carry out each 
year.  
 

1.3 This report includes information on the overall approach of the work 
coordinated by the Council’s Sports Unit team around PE and School Sport and 
also includes details of the future plans to implement more innovative 
programmes to further improve participation in high quality sport and physical 
activity opportunities. 

 

 

 

AGENDA ITEM No: tbc    

Page 29

Agenda Item 7

mailto:adurrant@westminster.gov.uk


 

 2 

2. Key Matters for the Committee’s Consideration 

 It is recommended that: 
 

(a) Members consider the approach of the PE and School Sport 
 programme and the opportunities available to promote and develop 
 participation in sport and physical activity by children and young 
 people. 

 
(b) Members provide feedback to Officers to help shape the further 

 development of the annual ActiveWestminster Activity Plan and the 
 work of the Sports, Leisure & Wellbeing team.  

 
(c) In particular, Members are asked to consider potential areas in which 

 there is a lack of provision and opportunity to engage more children 
 and young people.  

 
3. Background 
 
3.1  The Council’s Sport, Leisure & Wellbeing team lead on the delivery and 

development of sport and physical activity across the City, in partnership with 
a range of multi sector stakeholders and agencies.  

 
3.2  The ActiveWestminster strategy, which is structured around 5 key themes 

(Participation, Progression, People, Places and Partnerships), seeks to 
improve opportunities which encourage those who live, work and study in 
Westminster to participate in sport and physical activity. 
 

3.3 The strategy aims to address the key issues concerning sport and physical 
activity within the City and to deliver a range of tangible improvements to build 
a stronger sport and physical activity infrastructure and provide high quality 
opportunities for participation at every level.  
 

3.4 Development and implementation of the refreshed strategy is being led and 
driven by the Council, in collaboration with a range of stakeholders through 
the ActiveWestminster Partnership. 

 
3.5  The strategy highlights the need to address the impact of physical inactivity on 

the health and wellbeing of residents. Studies estimate the direct cost of 
physical inactivity to the NHS across the UK at £1.06 billion (Department of 
Health, 2011).  
 

3.6 More locally, Officers have been working with colleagues in Public Health to 
conduct the first Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) specifically around 
physical activity, with recommendations and an action plan being delivered 
through a Physical Activity Steering Group. The JSNA provides an excellent 
insight to some of the national and local issues, such as the National Child 
Measurement Programme (or NCMP). 
 

Page 30



 

 3 

3.7 The NCMP measures children’s weight in both Reception year and Year 6 
and helps inform local planning and obesity trends. Figure 1 shows how 
obesity levels in Westminster compare regionally and nationally and also 
highlights areas of Westminster where obesity is more prevalent. 
 

   
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
Figure 1 – Department of Health, National Child Measurement Programme (2012/13) 
Note: Year 6 borough average in 2014/15 remains at 25.4% and 10.6% for Reception.  
 

3.8 Clearly increasing levels of physical activity has a significant role to play in 
helping to reduce obesity levels and also reducing the risk of many chronic 
conditions including coronary heart disease, stroke, type 2 diabetes, cancer, 
mental health problems and musculoskeletal conditions.  According to the Sport 
England commissioned ‘Active People Survey 9’, Westminster’s residents 
(44%) are more active than direct neighbours Camden (43.3%) and Kensington 
& Chelsea (43.7%). Since 2006 Westminster has experienced consistent, 
incremental increases in the level of sports participation in sport and physical 
activity amongst residents aged 16 and over. 

 

Page 31



 

 4 

 
3.9 Whilst this is certainly more positive for the adult population, closer analysis of 

childhood participation is required and although Sport England are planning a 
refocus from 16-24 years olds to 5 years+ as part of the new government 
strategy there has been no formal measuring of this since 2011 when the 
national School Sport Partnership Programme (SSP) ceased.  
 

3.10 As part of the national SSP changes the Council’s Sport Unit team continued 
a local school sport survey in order to maintain the historical data record and 
to help target and focus resources towards those schools most in need. The 
surveys cover various aspects of activity from curriculum lessons to after 
school clubs and inter-school competitions. Figure 2 outlines the current 
curriculum PE on offer across Westminster’s primary age ranges.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Figure 2 – Westminster PESS Survey findings  
 

3.11 In order to achieve the Chief Medical Office guidance that all children and 
young people should engage in moderate to vigorous intensity physical 
activity for at least 60 minutes every day.  The Council’s City for All year 2 
plan includes a commitment that children and young people will access to at 
least one hour of physical activity a day.  The Sport, Leisure and Wellbeing 
team have a clear strategy in place to engage children and young people 
across the City in participating in sport and physical activity. The key work 
strands of this strategy include: 

 

  PE & School Sport (PESS) offer*  

  Outdoor adventurous activities 

  Community sports programme 

  Activity programme within Facilities  

  Participation (Legacy) Events    
 

*For the purpose of this report, the detail provided will take a closer look at 
Westminster’s PESS Offer. 

 

 

Page 32



 

 5 

Current approach in promoting participation sport and physical activity for 
children and young people through Westminster’s PESS Offer 
 

 

3.12 The sports unit has re-focused its approach to schools, and a dedicated 
officer provides support to schools through a ‘buy-back’ offer and the annual 
schools competition programme.  

 
3.13 The ‘buy-back’ offer features a core menu of services that the schools have 

specifically requested. The current offer, which can be reviewed in greater 
detail in Appendix one, includes: 

 

 Annual competitions programme - A Primary and Secondary Schools 
Calendar is produced each year targeting 7,000 participants across all 
sports. These participants then have the opportunity to represent 
Westminster at the national School Games Programme.  

 

 Continued Professional Development Programme - supporting over 
100 teachers each year, including Newly Qualified Teachers (NQTs) 
who may have only received a 6-10 week module as part of teacher 
training. Continued support is offered thereafter to NQTs aback in the 
classroom.  

 

 Health checks - every school in Westminster can receive a full subject 
health check, delivered by a PE Specialist giving advice on curriculum 
provision and Ofsted guidance. 

 

 Leadership Academy - Engaging over 50 primary and secondary age 
students in leadership training and opportunities to develop skills in 
coaching and sports management 

 

 Satellite Sports Clubs - utilising community use of schools, 
implemented as part of the Building Schools of the Future programme, 
10 clubs are being delivered in 7 schools across the borough 

 

 Healthy Schools Partnership - support and guidance to member 
schools to provide greater physical activity opportunities, this might 
include establishing a midday supervisor programme for break and lunch 
times, zoning the playground and breakfast clubs. Programmes such as 
this will be developed in partnership with Healthy Schools and Physical 
Activity lead officers  

 

 PE network meetings & Review Day (including CPD sessions) – This 
is a professional subject network for PE teachers and leaders over three 
half day meetings and annual PE and School Sport review day. 

 

 ActiveWestminster Mark - The sports unit brokers and advocates the 
use accredited providers through the ActiveWestminster Mark which 
assesses providers against criteria for minimum operating standards. 

Page 33



 

 6 

Demand for this in schools is high as teachers need support around PE 
teaching. 

 

 Partnerships - The ActiveWestminster Partnership brings additional 
benefits and programmes of activity to schools. For example 
professional football clubs QPR, Chelsea and Arsenal as well as MCC 
Lords who are all supporting delivery in Westminster schools, the 
community and own iconic facilities. 

 
3.14 It is important that the PESS offer creates opportunities for all children and 

young people, as well as ensuring generic increases in physical activity, 
support also needs to be given to those aspiring young athletes and 
champions of the future.  

 
3.15 As highlighted, the schools competition programme is significant in 

Westminster and provides a range of opportunities for pupils to participate in 
intra-school and inter-school competitions through Levels 1 and 2 of the 
national school games programme. If successful pupils can then take part in 
London regional finals at Level 3, with events held at central locations. 
 

3.16 With so much competitive sport taking place across Westminster, there also 
needs to be a system for identifying and supporting talented young people. 
Primarily this is delivered through the Council’s Champions of the Future 
programme, which identifies gifted and talented children and young people in 
schools and within community clubs.   The programme requires athletes to 
register onto the scheme through a regulated application process. Once 
accepted onto the programme young people then access a range of support 
programmes from financial grants for assistance with equipment and travel, to 
mentoring and physiotherapy support.  
 

3.17 The Champions of the Future programme currently supports over 120 athletes 
from a range of sports at various levels in development. Therefore younger 
members that are just starting to represent their sport at local or regional level 
have the older can benefits from more experienced role models to help guide 
them. These role models (or Ambassadors) include Tin-Tin Ho who is one of 
GB’s best up and coming women table tennis players, winning silver at the 
Commonwealth Games in 2014. Also Ashley McKenzie, who grew up in 
Queen’s Park, represents England and Great Britain in the sport of Judo. 
Ashley has won multiple titles and medals and is a strong hope this year at 
Rio 2016.  

 
Participation Legacy Events & innovative programmes to increase activity 
 
3.18 Following the success of London 2012 one of the key Legacy initiatives was 

to explore opportunities to host more high profile sports events in the City that 
are open and engaging to local residents and communities. In 2013 
Westminster hosted the first WestminsterMile attracting 3,000 participants and 
by the second year in 2014 had close to 6,000 registrations and what was 
even more pleasing was that 2,000 entries came from families. The 2016 
Westminster Mile hopes to attract 10,000 participants, which would cement 

Page 34



 

 7 

the event as the largest in the world - far outreaching the 5th Avenue Mile 
event in New York. Plans for this year also include a much larger activation 
area in Green Park that will attract community groups and participates to stay 
and take part of the event throughout the day, concluding with the chance to 
see elite athletes such as David Weir and a special Olympians Wave ahead of 
Rio 2016.   
 

3.19 Last year Officers from the Sport, Leisure and Wellbeing team noticed an 
emerging ‘Daily Mile’ campaign that is successfully engaging children to lead 
a healthy, active lifestyle from an early age by encouraging primary school 
pupils to walk or run a mile every day. It was also recognised that the Daily 
Mile programme aligned well with the Westminster Mile event. The 
programme has already proven to be a success in Scotland. The Scottish 
Education and Health Secretaries have written to all primary schools in 
Scotland to encourage them to implement The Daily Mile as part of the school 
routine, and we know that over 500 schools have already embraced the 
programme.  
 

3.20 At a time when UK-wide studies suggest up to two-thirds of primary school 
children lack basic fitness, and one in ten children are obese when they start 
school, the scheme is an easy, cost effective response. An early longitudinal 
academic study by the universities of Stirling and Edinburgh is showing very 
promising results in increased physical activity levels and reduced overweight 
and obesity levels in participating students.  
 

3.21 The ambition is to get all children in Westminster schools participating in the 
daily mile and as many of these students taking part in the Westminster Mile 
in May. 
 

3.22 Officers are working in partnership with the Daily Mile team and positive 
progress has been made, including: 
 

 Delivering 2 pilots at Hallfield Primary and Ark Atwood schools 

 A national launch at Hallfield Primary School on 17th March 2016 which 
featured national press coverage and a live broadcast on BBC 
Breakfast 

 Ark Atwood involving120 of their Daily Mile children in a Sport Relief 
event at Paddington Recreation Ground 

 Tangible links being made to the WestminsterMile 29th May, with free 
places being awarded to those early adopter schools  

 Films have been produced to promote to other schools 

 A plan to roll out this programme to all schools is in development and 
further meetings planned to ensure a whole Council approach, 
involving key departments and Members.   

 
Recommendations and future opportunities  
 
3.23 Active Communities. A key recommendation within JSNA for physical 

activity  is the new ‘ActiveCommunities’ programme which is being piloted in 
partnership with Public Health. The programme aims to engage stakeholders 

Page 35



 

 8 

and partners at a local level to build greater local opportunities which meet a 
recognised need. This will support the development of more locally 
responsive offer to children and young people through a ‘hub and spoke’ 
structure. The Council’s sports centres will be positioned as ‘active hubs’ 
within local communities and will promote the development and delivery of 
activities in relevant ‘spoke locations’ including parks and open spaces, 
estates, schools and community halls. Analysis has shown that high levels of 
inactivity overlay with high levels of deprivation displayed in certain ward 
areas. The pilot has therefore been designed in the North and South of 
Westminster to explore these issues further and identify potential 
programming/initiatives that are suitable to such local communities.    

 
3.24 Parents & improved communications. Poor communication is often cited by 

partners, schools and parents as one of the main reasons it is difficult to 
engage and more importantly retain young people in sport and regular 
physical activity. Whilst significant improvements are being made to 
information shared using social media and on line, it has been noticed that 
there isn’t a clear and consistent means to reach parents. In some areas of 
the UK systems such as Parent Mail are used to provide parents with local 
updates, school newsletters that could be used to better promote the available 
sporting opportunities. 
 

3.25 School mapping. Schools are inundated with various forms of information 
and also receive support from numerous external organisations. Work is 
underway to improve the mapping of schools provision in terms of sport and 
physical activity interventions and then to review this against intelligence 
including  levels of obesity, inactivity and those generally not taking up the 
support on offer.  
 

3.26 Review. Officers will be meeting with head teachers to begin reviewing the 
PESS offer to schools ahead of next academic year. A more detailed review 
day will also take place in June, which allows PE teachers and subject leaders 
to make changes, refinements and agree priorities for the following year.  

 
 

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any of the 
Background Papers  please contact Andy Durrant  

adurrant@westminster.gov.uk  

 
4.  BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
4.1  Physical activity: a needs assessment for Hammersmith and Fulham, 

 Kensington and Chelsea, and Westminster May 2014  
 http://www.jsna.info/document/physical-activity-0 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 36

mailto:adurrant@westminster.gov.uk
http://www.jsna.info/document/physical-activity-0


 

 9 

APPENDCIES  
 

Appendix One: Westminster Sports Unit - Westminster PE & School 
Sport Network 2015/16 
 
Westminster Sports Unit is uniquely placed to offer a comprehensive service to 
schools at the best possible value.  We are able to broker quality services from 
partners in education, sport and physical activity to help develop and deliver a full PE 
and school sport offer to your school.  The team has the support of two dedicated 
Sports Development Officers and unlike commercial providers, there is no premium 
to cover the cost of overheads or profit margins. 
 
In 2015/16 primary schools will once again receive a sum of £8000 per school plus 
and an extra £5 top-up per pupil.  We await government announcements regarding 
the longevity of this funding; schools will be informed of changes as soon as they are 
known. 
 
Accountability and Reporting 

Accountability will take place through Oftsed inspections and monitoring of school 
websites.  Advice on reporting and guidelines on appropriate use of the Primary PE 
and Sport Premium funding can be found at –  
www.londonsport.org/training-and-support/primary-school-support/ 

    
 
Continued Consultation 
The uptake from schools for the Westminster PE and School Sport Membership for 
14/15 was excellent with 95% schools participating.  We will continue to consult and 
liaise with PE Subject leaders during review days and network meetings to ensure 
that the offer remains relevant and appropriate.  We welcome feedback from head 
teachers on an ongoing basis and will continue to communicate through the head 
teachers executive. 
 
Our package allows us to offer all the benefits of the ActiveWestminster partnership 
and give schools added value of accessing a broader offer that has been 
significantly reduced or free of charge. We are able to offer a membership package 
much lower than the real cost and therefore is a relatively small contribution taken 
from your allocated PE premium funding towards improving the amount of high 
quality PE and school sport in Westminster.   
 

Westminster PE & School Sport Membership Package  

 

1. Annual primary school sport competitions calendar & online entry, 
including School Games level 2 competitions, entry and transportation to 
School Games level 3 where appropriate and many locally requested 
competitions and festivals. 

 
 
 

Page 37

http://www.londonsport.org/training-and-support/primary-school-support/


 

 10 

2. NQT training & support – As part of Westminster NQT induction programme, 
the PE training days offer new teachers practical ideas and importantly 
ongoing support to teach and observe high quality PE back within the school 
environment. 
 

3. CPD and teacher training programme - an expanded annual teacher 
training programme of sport specific and generic courses aimed at supporting 
class teachers and coaches to deliver high quality PESS. 
 

4. PE and school sport health check –audit of PE and School Sport in your 
school to gauge the current quality of the offer, suggest improvements and set 
targets conducted by an education specialist/PE advisor.  Those schools who 
have been through their PE Health Check will receive continued support to 
ensure that the subsequent action plans are being followed up and monitored 
well. 

 
5. PE Ofsted support – an extension to the health check, the Ofsted support 

will use the subject specific descriptors to aid schools in their preparation for 
Ofsted. 

 
6. PE network meetings & Review Day (inc CPD sessions) – three half day 

meetings and annual PE and School Sport review day. 
 
7. Support to gain the School Games Kitemark – a member of the WSU team 

will spend time in the school helping teachers to understand which criteria 
they meet (bronze, silver or gold) and develop a plan to reach the next level. + 
1 class room based session to complete the application. 

  
8. Leadership Academy – using the School Sport Organising Crews 

programme from the Youth Sport Trust, primary schools will be given 
resources to develop young leaders in their school to become a helpful PE 
and school sport workforce. 

 
9. Healthy Schools Partnership – support and guidance to member schools to 

provide greater physical activity opportunities, this might include establishing a 
midday supervisor programme for break and lunch times, zoning the 
playground and breakfast clubs. Programmes such as this will be developed 
in partnership with Healthy Schools and Physical Activity lead officers. 

  
10. PE safety membership – www.PEsafety.com access to this invaluable 

website gives a 24hour response to any question schools might have 
regarding safety in PE and school sport.  The site is managed by two physical 
and outdoor education specialists. 

 
11. Annual school sport survey – the survey offers an instant analysis of all 

your schools data producing charts and narrative to help schools report the 
impact of the their work. 

  
12. E-Newsletters ‘School Link’ - published each term with key information and 

upcoming dates 

Page 38

http://www.pesafety.com/


 

 11 

 
Additional Services 
Beyond the membership package, schools are expected to use the remaining PE 
premium funding to add value to PE and School Sport. Therefore, working in 
partnership with London Sport (regional sport and physical activity body funded by 
Sport England) we would be happy to broker and coordinate the arrangements on 
your behalf with regards to buying in additional services.  
This may include: 
 

 Support with PPA cover and team teaching – we only use accredited  

 providers through the ActiveWestminster Mark which assesses providers  
 against criteria for minimum operating standards. 
 

 Recruitment of specialist PE teachers – this could be a shared post between 
schools by pooling a proportion of funding, a model which some schools are 
opting for. 
 

 Apprentice PE Assistant - The National School Apprenticeship programme 
offers a unique opportunity for primary schools to employ a full-time PE 
assistant. 

 

 Improved links with NGBs of sport and their schools offer to develop school 
club links. 

 

 Satellite sports clubs these will offer open community sessions based at hub 
school sites. 

 

 Any bespoke service that you may require specific to school needs such as 
whole school INSET training. 

 
Partnerships 
 
The ActiveWestminster Partnership brings additional benefits and programmes of 
activity to schools, for example: 
 

 Links to London Sport Trust allow us to run a gifted and talented programme 
free of charge for a number of young people identified by school. 

 

 Our close relationship and partnership with MCC and Lords gives all 
Westminster schools an exciting package of cricket provision, training, match 
tickets etc all for no cost. 

 

 The Jubilee Hall Trust will be working directly with a number of school in the 
new year to further support their provision of extra-curricular activity 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Children, Sports and 
Leisure Policy and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
 

Date: 
 

9th May 2016 

Classification: 
 

General Release 
 

Title: 
 

Inspection Performance Report : Ofsted Inspection of 
Children’s Services and Probation Inspectorate 
Inspection of Youth Offending 
 

Report of: 
 

Melissa Caslake 

Cabinet Member Portfolio 
 

Councillor Danny Chalkley,  Cabinet Member for 
Children and Young People 

Wards Involved: 
 

All  
 

Policy Context: 
 

City for Choice / Heritage / Aspiration 

Report Author and  
Contact Details: 
 

Melissa Caslake, Director of Family Services 
mcaslake@westminster.gov.uk  
 

 
 
1. Executive Summary 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform the Policy and Scrutiny Committee of 
the outcome of the Ofsted Single Inspection Framework of Children’s Services 
that took place in January 2016, and the outcome of the Youth Offending 
Inspection that took place in December 2015. These inspections covered 
services for Youth Offending, Early Help, Children in Need and in Need of 
Protection, Children in Care and Care Leavers, Adoption and Fostering, 
Leadership, Management and Governance. 
 

1.2 Westminster achieved a highly effective rating for its youth offending work and 
this report outlines a summary of findings and next steps from the Short 
Quality Screening Inspection of the West London Youth Offending Service 
conducted by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation in December 2015. 
 

1.3 In February 2016, Westminster received an overall single judgement of 
‘Outstanding’ for its Children’s services, making us the first Council in the 
country to achieve this rating under the single inspection framework (alongside 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



 

 

Kensington and Chelsea). To date there have been approximately 89 Councils 
inspected under this framework, with over 50% so far receiving an overall 
judgement of ‘Requiring improvement’. 
 

2. Key Matters for the Committee’s Consideration 

2.1 Children’s Services in Westminster were subject to an inspection under the 
Ofsted Single Inspection Framework between 11 January and 4 February 
2016.  A simultaneous inspection took place in Hammersmith and Fulham and 
Kensington and Chelsea, and services shared between the three boroughs 
were also inspected.  Inspectors relayed their draft findings on 4 February and 
a final report was published by Ofsted on 29 March 2016 (Appendix 1). 
 

2.2 Westminster was rated Outstanding for Looked after children, Adoption, and 
Leadership and governance, leading to an overall rating of Outstanding. 
 

2.3 Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation conducted a Short Quality Screening 
(SQS) of youth offending work in the three boroughs of Westminster, 
Hammersmith and Fulham, and Kensington and Chelsea in December 2015.  
The inspectorate examined 34 cases of children and young people who had 
recently offended and were supervised by the Youth Offending Service (YOS). 
We received a final report in December 2015 (Appendix 2). 
 

2.4 In summary, the Inspectorate found “...that the YOS was performing very well. 
Staff were enthusiastic, committed, and their knowledge of cases was 
impressive. The quality of work was good enough across all areas of practice 
in the vast majority of cases. Engagement with children and young people was 
excellent. There were no areas of significant weakness although some 
improvements could be made to reviews, some aspects of planning and 
management oversight.” 

 
 
3. Background 
 
3.1 Of the 89 inspection reports that have been published by Ofsted so far, only 

those for Kensington and Chelsea and Westminster (a total of 2%) have 
resulted in overall judgements of Outstanding and 24% resulted in “Good”. 
When sub-judgements are taken into account, the three boroughs all appear in 
the top three highest performing local authorities under the current inspection 
framework. The LSCB’s judgement was also confirmed as being Good. 30% of 
the LSCBs reviewed so far received this judgement (no LSCB has yet been 
judged to be Outstanding). 
 

3.2 Ofsted found Westminster Children’s Services to be Outstanding. This is the 
highest possible judgement under their Single Inspection Framework. 
Hammersmith & Fulham received a Good rating overall as part of the same 
inspection. 

 
3.3 Ofsted made a number of sub-judgements as follows: 

Page 42



 

 

Children who need help and protection: Good 
Children looked after and achieving permanence:  Outstanding 
Adoption performance: Outstanding 
Experiences and progress of care leavers: Good 
Leadership, management and governance: Outstanding 
 

3.4 The report finds that Children’s Services in Westminster are made up of “well-
trained and impressive social workers” who are “patient, tenacious and 
respectful” and make a “vast difference” in keeping children safe from harm. 
The Council is a “highly ambitious corporate parent” and looked after children 
in Westminster see “exceptionally good outcomes”. 
 

3.5 The report also highlights that significant and sustained improvements have 
been made since the last inspection in October 2011, when services were 
judged to be Good. The local authorities’ leaders and managers demonstrate 
“a strong track record of effective, high-quality service delivery…linked 
regularly and directly to the tri-borough Executive Director of Children’s 
Services, who manages the complex arrangement exceptionally well, within a 
mature culture of appropriate challenge.” The Director of Family Services 
“shows exceptionally strong leadership”. Furthermore, “Senior leaders and 
elected members demonstrate care and compassion, and a rigorous approach 
to achieving excellence at all levels.” 
 

3.6 Ofsted found that our children in care had “enduring relationships with 
committed, skilled and determined social workers”, resulting in children and 
young people doing well in education and feeling stable and safe. Adoption 
services in particular were found to be Outstanding. 
 

3.7 Overall, children’s services “benefit from outstanding, highly ambitious and 
confident operational and political leadership” and consequently “almost all 
vulnerable children and young people who come into contact with children’s 
services receive good or outstanding support…Young people at risk of child 
sexual exploitation receive excellent support, which is delivered with great 
sensitivity and persistence by dedicated professionals.” 
 

3.8 The LSCB overall was found to be Good with some areas for development. 
Westminster’s Partnership Group “ensures preventative work is undertaken in 
terms of its priorities…able to provide examples in planning and influencing 
services has made a difference to children and young people across the 
borough.” 
 

3.9 We know that themes arise for Ofsted that are paid particular attention in 
inspection, currently CSE (Child Sexual Exploitation) and Missing Children. 
Future areas which we are anticipating and working on may include the 
interface between Prevent and safeguarding work, the impact of social media 
on forms of abuse and peer bullying, and the quality of life experience for 
children living with extended family instead of foster care.  We are mindful of 
these areas and have incorporated them into our service plans. 
 

Page 43



 

 

3.10 Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation (HMIP) conducted a Short Quality 
Screening (SQS) of youth offending work in the three boroughs of 
Westminster, Hammersmith and Fulham and Kensington and Chelsea.  The 
inspectorate examined 34 cases of children and young people who had 
recently offended and were supervised by the Youth Offending Service.  The 
SQS inspection focuses upon the quality of the work at the start of the 
sentence from the court through to the point when an initial plan should be 
completed and be put in place post sentence. The reason for choosing this 
area to look at is because the quality of work completed at this stage is 
deemed to be the critical phase in achieving positive outcomes following 
sentence completion. The YOS received 2 weeks’ notice of the inspection and 
during that time were required to submit evidence in advance related to our 
policies and procedures on: 

 

 Public protection; 

 Safeguarding; 

 Compliance, engagement and enforcement; 

 Quality assurance; 

 Management oversight; 

 Structure of the organisation. 

 

There are 4 judgement areas: 

 Reducing offending (assessment, planning and intervention); 

 Public Protection – management of risk and partnership working; 

 Protecting the child/young person – keeping young people safe; 

 Ensuring that young people serve their sentence (engaging with young 
people and understanding of holistic health and well-being). 

 

3.11 The grade descriptors used by HMIP are based on the ‘sufficiency or 
insufficiency’ of practice on the performance against each criterion. The 
Inspectorate use ‘sufficient’ or ‘insufficient’ as their language to describe ‘good’ 
or ‘not good’. There is nothing in between. Our lead inspector wanted us to 
know that this language did not reflect the really good work that was seen on a 
number of cases.  It is also worth noting that of the 34 cases examined the 
judgements scored by HMIP do not apply to every case and hence may not 
always equal 34. 

Page 44



 

 

3.12 The results from the inspection indicate that the YOS is performing at a very 
high level. In summary, the inspectorate found “...that the YOS was performing 
very well. Staff were enthusiastic, committed, and their knowledge of cases 
was impressive. The quality of work was good enough across all areas of 
practice in the vast majority of cases. Engagement with children and young 
people was excellent. There were no areas of significant weakness although 
some improvements could be made to reviews and some aspects of planning 
and management oversight.” 

3.13 Out of 29 separate judgements, only one was below 80% sufficient (at 78%); 9 
judgements achieved 100%; a further 9 over 90%; and 25 out of 29 (86%) 
judgements were in at over 85%, which is a significant achievement (see 
Appendix 3). In comparison with the England averages of youth offending 
team inspections, the tri-borough YOS was higher than the national averages 
on each of the 4 judgements. The inspectorate further identified a number of 
key strengths and cited some good examples of practice to illustrate the 
findings: 

 Case managers had a strong understanding of the needs of and risks 
presented by the children and young people they supervised. HMIP 
commented, “...the case manager had a strong sense of what the priority 
concerns were and sequenced the delivery of interventions in line with 
identified needs and risks...Young person’s learning styles and diversity needs 
...were well evidenced in records.” 

 Assessments and plans were completed consistently well. In 32/34 cases, 
planning to address offending were good and some excellent practice 
identified. HMIP highlighted this in one case cited as “A very good piece of 
work.” 

 Pre-Sentence Reports and panel reports were of a good standard. HMIP 
examined 17 reports prepared for court and found all of them to be of a high 
quality. 

 Workers effectively engaged with children, young people and their parents and 
carers. Good engagement with young people was also commented on by the 
Inspectorate. 

 The YOS worked well with other agencies and there was good evidence of 
effective liaison, information sharing and joint working with children’s services, 
Police and the Integrated Gangs Unit. HMIP commented on the strong 
partnership working between the YOS, wider Children’s Services, and Police 
in their work to jointly safeguard children and young people. The inspection 
identified especially good practice through the partnership between the Youth 
Offending Team and the Integrated Gangs Unit, specific to Westminster. The 
inspection also commented positively on the approach taken to child sexual 
exploitation, identifying and managing risk, and reducing harm to young 
people. 

 Diversity issues and barriers to engagement were identified and addressed 
well. An excellent example of practice in this area was cited by HMIP, “The 

Page 45



 

 

attention to barriers to learning and complying in this case was extremely 
good…This case was well managed and attention to individual needs and 
barriers was of a very good standard.” 

 The inspectors interviewed case managers and met with the Head of Service 
and the Director of Family Services responsible for the YOS.  Staff 
commented on the quality of the support they receive from managers and how 
this has helped them in improving their practice.  HMIP commented that 
management oversight that was evidenced throughout the work and that the 
management team had the necessary skills and knowledge to assist staff to 
improve their practice. 

 
4. Next Steps 
 
4.1 Plans are already in place to address the areas for improvement identified in 

both inspections towards continuous improvement and excellent practice. 
Committee is asked to note that both of these inspection results mean that 
Westminster (and Kensington) are the highest performing children’s services 
in the country, but one of our identified strengths is our ability to undertake 
rigorous self-assessment leading to continuous improvements without 
complacency. We would also like to thank the Committee and Chair for their 
oversight and scrutiny of services, and our Cabinet Member and Deputies for 
their support, rigorous holding of officers to account and ambition for 
outstanding services. Inspectors noted the quality of senior leadership at 
member level, describing the approach as compassionate and robust.   

4.2 We are required to send Ofsted an Action Plan addressing the four 
recommendations that were made, by July 2016.  The recommended action 
regarding our Out of Hours service is being addressed through a review, and 
recommendations will be made to the Tri-Borough Senior Leadership Team. 
The Out of Hours service delivery is hosted and managed by Kensington on 
behalf of the Tri-Borough.   

In Westminster we have set up a Working Group to review and change our 
work with Children in Need, and are similarly engaged with care leavers in 
custody through the Service Development Group for Children in Care and 
Corporate Parenting Board. 

Missing Children are being progressed through an Action Plan governed by 
the Safeguarding Sub-group on Missing Children, CSE and the MASH (Multi-
agency Safeguarding hub). 

4.3 The recommendations of the YOT inspection are being implemented through 
service development planning and specific actions to strengthen management 
oversight, review and planning for vulnerable young people.  This is evaluated 
through regular audit including external auditors to rigorously assess 
improvement. This is overseen by the Tri-Borough Reducing Reoffending 
Board. 

 
 

Page 46



 

 

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any of the 
Background Papers  please contact Report Author x2253 
mcaslake@westminster.gov.uk  

 
 
APPENDIX 1: 
 
Ofsted: Single inspection of LA children's services and review of the LSCB 

Appendix 1.pdf

 
 
 
APPENDIX 2: 
 
HM Inspectorate of Probation Report of Short Quality Screening (SQS) of youth 
offending work in West London - Tri-Borough Youth Offending Service (YOS) 
 

Appendix 2.pdf

 
 
 
APPENDIX 3: 
 

Appendix 3.pdf

 

Page 47

mailto:mcaslake@westminster.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



     APPENDIX 1 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 49



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      

 

Page 50



 

 

 1 

Westminster City Council 
 

Inspection of services for children in need of help and 
protection, children looked after and care leavers 

and 

Review of the effectiveness of the Local Safeguarding Children 
Board1  

Inspection date: 11 January 2016 to 4 February 2016 

Report published: 29 March 2016 

 

Children’s services in Westminster City Council are outstanding  

1. Children who need help and protection Good 

2. Children looked after and achieving 
permanence 

Outstanding 

 
2.1 Adoption performance Outstanding 

2.2 Experiences and progress of care leavers Good 

3. Leadership, management and governance Outstanding 

 
  

                                           

 
1 Ofsted produces this report under its power to combine reports in accordance with section 152 of 
the Education and Inspections Act 2006. This report includes the report of the inspection of local 

authority functions carried out under section 136 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 and the 
report of the review of the Local Safeguarding Children Board carried out under the Local 

Safeguarding Children Boards (Review) Regulations 2013. 

Page 51



 

 

   2 

Executive summary 

Children’s services in Westminster, augmented by the exemplary tri-borough 
partnership with Hammersmith and Fulham, and Kensington and Chelsea, benefit 
from outstanding, highly ambitious and confident operational and political leadership. 
Consequently, almost all vulnerable children and young people who come into 
contact with children’s services receive good or outstanding support. Significant and 
sustained improvements have been made since the last inspection in October 2011, 
when services were judged to be good. Leaders and managers demonstrate a strong 
track record of effective, high-quality service delivery. 

Rigorous performance management means that senior leaders are extremely 
knowledgeable about the performance of services provided to children. An 
exceptional performance framework supports the delivery of social work to a very 
high and, in most cases, outstanding quality. 

Considerable economies of scale are achieved through combined administrative and 
management arrangements across the tri-borough partnership. Solid governance 
strategies are delivered effectively by the chief executive, the lead member and 
statutory partnership boards such as the health and well-being board. All of these 
link regularly and directly to the tri-borough executive director of children’s services 
(DCS), who manages this complex arrangement exceptionally well, within a mature 
culture of appropriate challenge.  

A dedicated and highly coherent model of commissioning ensures that children and 
families in Westminster are offered extensive, holistic early help, and targeted and 
specialist services. These are making a vast difference in keeping them safe from 
harm. This child-centred approach is strongly supported by the work of innovation-
funded, advanced and specialist practitioners and clinicians. 

Excellent services are consistently delivered using the tri-borough partnership’s well-
developed ‘focus on practice’ model of social work, which places a high value on 
relationship-building between children and their social workers. Exemplary 
application of this highly innovative model is supported by low social work caseloads.   

Young people at risk of child sexual exploitation receive excellent support, which is 
delivered with great sensitivity and persistence by dedicated professionals. Robust 
monitoring and understanding of children missing is driven assertively and 
confidently by a missing children coordinator. More work is needed to ensure that all 
children missing from home and care are routinely offered a ‘return home’ interview. 

Westminster has an extensive network of tri-borough and in-borough services to help 
children and families address difficulties concerning domestic abuse, substance 
misuse and parental mental ill health. Consequently, children and young people are 
protected from harm.  

Services for children looked after or those requiring adoption are outstanding. The 
local authority is a highly ambitious corporate parent. A child looked after in 
Westminster is surrounded by a team of professionals that works closely and 

Page 52



 

 

 3 

collaboratively to help them achieve in life. As a result, children and young people do 
well in education, placement stability is good and children feel safe.  

Westminster care leavers receive an effective, aspirational service, reflected in the 
excellent work undertaken by the virtual school, personal advisers and social workers 
in promoting an extensive range of options for all young people.  

Children and young people at risk of radicalisation, female genital mutilation, forced 
marriage and honour-based violence are protected through a range of excellent 
initiatives.  

Excellent workforce planning means that the tri-borough partnership has a very 
stable and experienced workforce, and this enhances consistency and quality of 
service. Well-trained and impressive social workers are able to retain their expertise 
in practice and pursue career opportunities other than management, if they so wish.  

 

Page 53



 

 

   4 

Contents 
Executive summary 2 

The local authority 5 

Information about this local authority area 5 

Recommendations 7 

Summary for children and young people 8 

The experiences and progress of children who need help and protection 9 

The experiences and progress of children looked after and achieving 
permanence 15 

Leadership, management and governance 27 

The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 34 

Executive summary 34 

Recommendations 36 

Information about this inspection 43 

 
 
 

  

Page 54



 

 

 5 

The local authority 

 

Information about this local authority area2 
 
Previous Ofsted inspections 
  
 The local authority operates no children’s homes. 

 The previous inspection of the local authority’s safeguarding arrangements was in 
September 2011. The local authority was judged to be good. 

 The previous inspection of the local authority’s services for looked after children 
was in September 2011. The local authority was judged to be good. 

Local leadership  
 
 The director of children’s services (DCS) has been in post since September 2011. 

 The DCS is executive director of children’s services for the tri-borough 
partnership, which comprises Westminster, Hammersmith and Fulham, and the 
Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea. 

 The chair of the LSCB has been in post since April 2012. 

 The LSCB is shared with Hammersmith and Fulham, and the Royal Borough of 
Kensington and Chelsea. 

 
Children living in this area 
 
 Approximately 40,694 children and young people under the age of 18 live in 

Westminster. This is 17.2% of the total population of the area. 

 Approximately 36.7% of the local authority’s children are living in poverty. 

 The proportion of children entitled to free school meals: 

 in primary schools is 31% (the national average is 16%) 

 in secondary schools is 32% (the national average is 14%). 

 Children and young people from minority ethnic groups account for 57% of all 
children living in the area, compared with 21.5% in the country as a whole. 

 The largest minority ethnic groups of children and young people in the area are 
Other Ethnic, and Asian or Asian British. 

 The proportion of children and young people with English as an additional 
language: 

                                           

 
2 The local authority was given the opportunity to review this section of the report and has updated it 

with local unvalidated data where this was available. 

Page 55



 

 

   6 

 in primary schools is 70% (the national average is 19%)  

 in secondary schools is 64% (the national average is 15%). 

Child protection in this area 
 
 At 31 March 2015, 1,240 children had been identified through assessment as 

being formally in need of a specialist children’s service. This is a reduction from 
1,473 at 31 March 2014. 

 At 31 March 2015, 113 children and young people were the subject of a child 
protection plan. This is an increase from 99 at 31 March 2014. 

 At 31 March 2015, 10 children lived in a privately arranged fostering placement. 
This is an increase from five at 31 March 2014. 

 Since the last inspection, two serious incident notifications have been submitted 
to Ofsted and two serious case reviews have been completed or were ongoing at 
the time of the inspection. 

 
Children looked after in this area 
 
 At 31 March 2015, 179 children were being looked after by the local authority (a 

rate of 50 per 10,000 children). This is an increase from 176 (49 per 10,000 
children) at 31 March 2014. 

 Of this number: 

 138 (or 78%) live outside the local authority area 

 seven live in residential children’s homes. Of these, 100% live outside the 
authority area 

 three live in residential special schools3. Of these, 100% live outside the 
authority area 

 139 live with foster families. Of these, 80% live outside the authority 
area 

 two live with parents, and both live within the authority area 

 31 children are unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. 

 In the last 12 months: 

 there have been 14 adoptions 

 six children became subject of special guardianship orders 

 78 children ceased to be looked after, of whom five (6%) subsequently 
returned to be looked after 

                                           

 
3 These are residential special schools that look after children for 295 days or fewer per year. 

Page 56



 

 

 7 

 10 children and young people ceased to be looked after and moved on to 
independent living 

 four children and young people ceased to be looked after and are now 
living in houses of multiple occupation. 

Recommendations 
 

1. Ensure that all cases of children in need are systematically evaluated by 
managers regularly, focusing on whether changes are being achieved and 
sustained.  

2. Ensure that children missing from home and care are routinely offered a return 
home interview, and that aggregated information from interviews informs 
service planning.  

3. Review out-of-hours arrangements to ensure that children and young people 
are offered a standard of practice consistent with daytime services. 

4. Ensure that personal advisers have frequent contact with care leavers in 
custody and that managers routinely review the quality of work with these 
young people.  

  

Page 57



 

 

   8 

Summary for children and young people 
 
 Services for children and families in Westminster are of very high quality. 

 Children and families are provided with a wide range of services to help and 
support them to feel safe. Social workers act quickly when children and young 
people need help and protection.  

 Social workers, teachers, police and health workers work together well to make 
sure that things get better for children and families. This means that problems 
are often sorted out at an early stage.   

 Social workers spend time getting to know children and their parents. This means 
that they understand what is happening and are really good at helping families to 
make positive changes. They are very good at listening to children and 
understanding things that are important to each child, such as how they feel, 
where they want to live and what needs to happen to make things better.   

 Children and young people at risk of sexual or gang exploitation are helped by 
dedicated, caring workers to make them safe.  

 Children and their families who arrive from different countries are provided with 
good help and advice. 

 Senior leaders and councillors have a passion to make things better for all 
children. They want them to do well. This is making a positive difference to 
young people’s lives.  

 Social workers care about the children and young people they work with and do 
all that they can to help children live safely with their families. Some children and 
young people can only be supported and protected by being taken into care. 
When this happens, they are helped to live with their brothers and sisters, if 
possible.  

 Children and young people in care benefit from social workers who know them 
well, are committed and skilled and who do not give up on them. They are helped 
to keep in contact with their families. Children and young people who live with 
foster carers or live in children’s homes are looked after well. Foster carers are 
supported well by the council.  

 If young people want to stay with their foster carers when they reach 18, they 
are helped to do so. Young people are supported to attend university and college, 
or helped to find a job and safe accommodation when they leave care.  

 When children need to be adopted, this happens quickly. They are adopted with 
their brothers and sisters whenever this is possible. Westminster City Council tries 
hard to find adoptive families for as many children as possible. Families who 
adopt children have plenty of support to help make sure that they can care for 
the children until they become adults. 

 Children and young people are provided with many opportunities to have their 
views heard. This is making a positive difference to how services are provided 
across the city.  

Page 58



 

 

 9 

The experiences and progress of 
children who need help and 
protection 

 Good   

Summary 
Children and families in Westminster are offered extensive and timely early help 
through accessible, high-quality, universal and targeted services, protecting them 
from harm.  

There is widespread understanding among professionals of the thresholds for 
access to social care intervention. Contacts and referrals for children in need and 
at risk are managed promptly in the tri-borough multi-agency safeguarding hub 
(MASH). There is some delay in starting assessments for a small number of 
children.  

Social work practice is patient, tenacious and respectful. Issues of increased risks 
to children on open cases, when identified, are escalated appropriately. Case 
records illustrate strong and thorough direct work. The quality of social work 
assessments is consistently good or outstanding, demonstrating effective and 
thoughtful engagement with families. 

Good-quality children in need plans are evident in the majority of cases, but a 
minority of children remain on these plans for too long. A small number of plans 
and reviews lack clarity. Child protection enquiries are carried out by experienced 
and knowledgeable social workers. Strategy meetings are timely and involve all the 
relevant key agencies. Child protection plans are concise. Effective planning and 
reviewing quickly reduce risks to children. 

Management oversight is a clear strength, with social workers receiving regular, 
reflective supervision, providing clear direction and a shared ownership of risk, 
from the frontline to senior management. 

Young people at risk of child sexual exploitation receive excellent support. Children 
who go missing from school are identified quickly, with prompt and effective action 
taken to address absences. More work is needed to ensure that all children missing 
from home and care are offered a return home interview.  

Children and young people at risk of radicalisation, female genital mutilation, 
forced marriage and honour-based violence are protected through a range of 
highly effective initiatives. 

The tri-borough partnership’s out-of-hours service ensures that children are safe. 
However, action is needed to make sure that formal safeguarding procedures are 
followed routinely and that social workers always accompany children to foster 
care. 

 

Page 59



 

 

   10 

5. Children in Westminster benefit from a well-coordinated array of services that 
provide help at an early stage. The pathway into targeted early help provision is 
clear, with three multi-agency locality teams considering new referrals and both 
‘step down’ and ‘step up’ referrals from social workers at weekly meetings. An 
extensive range of services are provided through children’s centres and schools. 
A ‘team around the family’ model considers a holistic, multi-agency perspective 
on families’ needs. The well-established tri-borough family recovery project is 
part of the service network. These services are underpinned by a coherent 
multi-agency strategy, and this is making a significant difference in improving 
the lives of children and families. 

6. Early help is carefully prioritised for the most vulnerable families living in the 
most deprived wards in the borough. Parents seen during the inspection highly 
valued the specific programmes they attended such as English classes, 
readiness for employment and parenting courses, and support with domestic 
abuse, mental ill-health and substance misuse. They also appreciated the 
accessibility of informal support at drop-in facilities at children’s centres. 
External, independent, academic evaluations verify that parents benefit from 
the blend of practical and emotional support at the heart of early help 
provision. 

7. Strong partnerships serve to protect children from harm. All referrals are 
prioritised by the duty social worker in the access and assessment team, using 
blue, green, amber and red ratings, according to the seriousness of the 
concern. The vast majority of referrals rated red and amber receive a timely, 
safe response. Although inspectors found delays in progressing a small number 
of child protection referrals, these do not leave children exposed to higher 
levels of risk. However, delayed timescales are likely to provoke uncertainty and 
anxiety for families affected. 

8. The tri-borough partnership’s multi-agency safeguarding hub (MASH) is an 
effective information gathering and sharing hub. Most children and young 
people benefit from an effective multi-agency response to their needs through 
the MASH. The co-location of staff enables highly-effective gathering of 
information. For example, the integrated gangs unit, the missing person 
coordinator working collaboratively with social workers and the police analyse 
information, which informs prompt action. Strong management oversight 
ensures that MASH recommendations are safe. In a small number of cases, 
MASH checks took longer than timescales designated by the colour-coded 
system, which led to delay in the local authority being able to act.   

9. Children living in families where parental difficulties are causing instability and 
risk are supported by highly trained, skilled and able social workers, 
undertaking sensitive direct work. Social workers are supported in this work by 
experienced clinicians, who have undergone advanced training such as family 
therapy. This assists their professional thinking and approaches to complex 
families through systemic reflection and evaluation. Social workers told 
inspectors that they appreciated the ‘focus on practice’ systemic training they 

Page 60



 

 

 11 

had recently completed, as it is providing new insights and improving 
engagement, particularly where families are resistant to involvement.  

10. Efforts to engage families, particularly male household members and fathers, 
are determined, tenacious and respectful. Issues of increased risks to children 
on open cases, when identified, are promptly escalated and plans are reviewed 
accordingly. In the large majority of cases, social workers quickly build strong 
relationships with children and families who need protection and help. Children 
are seen promptly and alone. Their views on their family circumstances are 
captured well using genograms, the ‘three houses’ and other direct work tools. 
Interpreters are used consistently for families whose first language is not 
English, alongside sophisticated consideration of families’ cultural backgrounds 
and heritage. This allows, for example, for women from middle-eastern and 
Indian sub-continent backgrounds to talk about the domestic abuse they are 
experiencing, with social workers quickly putting them in touch with culturally 
sensitive services to support and advise them. 

11. A large majority of child protection strategy meetings include key agencies 
involved with the child, and are held within 24 hours of the referral. Meetings 
are well recorded and management decisions are clear. In a minority of cases 
seen, timescales for completing actions were not specific and this omission 
contributed to delays. Obtaining parental consent to share information, or 
overriding it where necessary, is scrupulously considered and recorded, 
indicating a respectful approach to parents and carers. Thresholds for access to 
child protection services are well understood across the partnership. Referral 
rates to children’s social care services are consistently lower than in comparable 
local authorities. The rate of referrals increased by 8% in 2014–15, from 402 
per 10,000 to 411, still below the rate of similar authorities at 558 and the 
England rate of 548. 

12. The number of child protection enquiries rose sharply over the six months 
preceding the inspection, with 71% concluding that an initial child protection 
conference (ICPC) was unnecessary. The local authority reports that this trend 
has recently started to decline, but the low conversion rate indicates that too 
many children and families may be undergoing unnecessary statutory 
investigations. In cases seen by inspectors, decisions both to initiate child 
protection enquiries and to convene ICPCs were balanced and carefully 
evidenced.  

13. Westminster is subject to a Department for Education (DfE) exemption with 
regard to the timeliness of initial child protection conferences. In cases seen by 
inspectors, applied exemptions were appropriate, with most involving small 
delays in order that key professionals or parents were able to attend 
conferences. The large majority of ICPCs lead to children’s placement on child 
protection plans, indicating that decision making is more appropriate here than 
in commencing child protection enquiries. 

Page 61



 

 

   12 

14. The threshold guide assists partners to consider and analyse their concerns 
about children. The majority of referrals to children’s social care result in 
assessments and the provision of services. Re-referrals are much lower than in 
comparable authorities, suggesting that the help families and children receive 
addresses risks and needs, achieving sustained improvements. A joint panel of 
children’s services and housing enables collaborative assessments for 16- and 
17-year-olds who present as homeless. Young people are accommodated by 
the local authority when necessary. Assessments include good attention to 
young people’s health, substance misuse and offending patterns. 

15. Children and family single assessments are comprehensive and analytical. Care 
is taken to understand parental and family histories, with well-constructed 
genograms and chronologies informing this task. Consistently strong efforts are 
made to understand parental cultures, religious and belief systems, alongside 
the impact of mental illness, poverty and insecure housing. Exceptionally 
competent examples were seen of social workers evaluating how these, and 
other vulnerabilities, interact with the ability of parents to provide stable, warm 
and consistent care for their children.  

16. Children’s experiences and progress are well documented in case records, 
illustrating strong and thorough direct work. New information results in re-
evaluations of findings, with services provided promptly during assessment 
periods. A DfE timescale exemption also applies to assessment timescales. 
About 28% of assessments took longer than 45 working days in the preceding 
six months. Exemptions were applied appropriately in the majority of instances 
seen by inspectors, with management directions and decisions clearly recorded. 

17. Strong, reflective, regular supervision and case management support high 
standards of casework by qualified and skilled social workers. Caseloads are 
manageable, allowing considerable time for direct work with families.  

18. Westminster has an extensive network of tri-borough and in-borough services 
to help children and families address difficulties concerning domestic abuse, 
substance misuse and parental mental ill-health. The ‘focus on practice’ 
programme provides specific content for social workers on this ‘toxic trio’ of 
vulnerabilities. Service provision is embedded in universal, targeted early help 
and statutory children’s services. Through effective direct work, early help 
practitioners and domestic abuse specialists help children to voice their 
experiences of living in families where these parental difficulties prevail. 
Perpetrator and victim programmes provide sufficient capacity for work with 
adults. Parents are helped to understand the impact of their behaviours on their 
children. Some exceptionally creative, skilled interventions with families affected 
by these circumstances were observed during the inspection.  

19. Arrangements for the identification, intervention and management of significant 
risk and harm by adults are understood well within formal settings such as the 
multi-agency risk assessment conference (MARAC) and multi-agency public 
protection arrangements (MAPPA). 

Page 62



 

 

 13 

20. Children and young people at risk of radicalisation, female genital mutilation, 
forced marriage and honour-based violence are protected through a range of 
impressive initiatives. A thorough and bespoke needs analysis in Westminster 
culminated in a partnership with a local hospital, identifying and working with 
expectant mothers previously subjected to female genital mutilation, 
simultaneously assessing risk to their daughters and other young girls in their 
extended families. This initiative has significantly increased the number of 
women and girls receiving intervention. The hospital initiative is strengthened 
by intensive community efforts, including a virtual team based in local maternity 
clinics and working alongside midwives.  

21. Children and families are prepared well to attend child protection conferences 
that are competently chaired by experienced child protection advisers (CPAs). 
Children are automatically provided with an advocate, unless they choose to 
‘opt out’. Child-friendly versions of plans are prepared by advocates with CPAs, 
allowing children and young people to understand the purpose and objectives 
of the plans. The quality of child protection plans is good, with clear outcomes 
underpinned by measurable objectives and actions. Risks to children are 
reduced quickly, with only a few children remaining on child protection plans for 
longer than a year, and none for longer than two years. Very few children are 
placed on child protection plans for a second or subsequent episode. 

22. The quality and timeliness of work with children in need are more variable. A 
minority of children in need plans lacked clearly defined outcomes, with reviews 
that did not progress work with children and families purposefully. However, 
the majority of plans seen were comprehensive, informed by all involved 
agencies, and with the participation of children and their parents clearly 
apparent (Recommendation). 

23. Significant progress has been made in addressing child sexual exploitation. 
Effective tri-borough multi-agency arrangements ensure swift information-
sharing and identification of children and young people at risk. Senior managers 
regularly evaluate interventions with higher-risk young people at thorough 
multi-agency sexual exploitation panel (MASE) meetings. Emerging risks to 
young people are identified early, partly through an innovative multi-agency 
integrated gangs unit (IGU) that meets weekly, tracking and intervening quickly 
with new gang affiliates, in addition to more established members. IGU is 
pivotal in providing intelligence for trend analysis on missing young people. A 
dedicated IGU young women’s worker engages with young women at risk of 
sexual exploitation, and other forms of abuse and control, through their gang 
associations. Child sexual exploitation risk assessments were used in the 
majority of cases seen by inspectors. MASE panel oversight was clear in these 
cases, although case recordings did not consistently reflect updated panel 
decisions.  

24. A tri-borough missing children’s coordinator systematically collects data, tracks 
cases, and delivers training and consultation for social workers. Each week, 
senior managers evaluate responses to children missing from home. ‘Return’ 

Page 63



 

 

   14 

interviews are not routinely offered for frequent absconders. The tri-borough 
strategic panel has recognised that further work is required to aggregate 
patterns and trends, and the local authority has developed effective plans to 
progress this work (Recommendation). 

25. The 10 children known to be living in private fostering arrangements are 
assessed and supported well by a knowledgeable, dedicated worker. Effective 
awareness-raising work occurs regularly, which has led to a recent increase in 
referrals and enquiries. 

26. Robust tri-borough arrangements support timely and thorough consultations 
and investigations regarding allegations against staff who work with children. 
CPAs effectively chair strategy meetings, ensuring regular tracking and 
recording of outcomes.  

27. The local authority has good oversight of children missing education and 
performance data, and information is regularly evaluated. Effective, prompt 
action is taken by a dedicated team to identify and track children who are 
missing from school. Appropriate checks are made with social care, housing, 
police, and revenue and benefits agencies to ascertain children’s whereabouts. 
Consequently, very few children remain missing and the large majority are 
placed in suitable provision within a term, which is in line with the local target. 
School attendance orders are initiated where necessary.  

28. Local authority staff work effectively with parents who choose to educate their 
children at home. A designated adviser promptly contacts families, ensuring 
that effective action is taken to assess the suitability and quality of children’s 
education in these circumstances. The majority of families engage well with the 
local authority, which also carefully liaises, as necessary, with other council 
departments to promote children’s welfare. 

29. The emergency duty team (EDT) operates on a tri-borough basis with a 
dedicated social work team. The team responds to crises and emergencies out 
of hours, ensuring that safe arrangements are in place and that protective 
action is taken to safeguard children if required. While EDT staff check that 
children are safe, staff do not always follow formal safeguarding procedures. 
This results in delays to initial risk assessments, which do not begin until 
daytime services initiate procedures. Additionally, examples were seen of 
children placed in care without being seen or escorted by an EDT social worker 
(Recommendation).  

Page 64



 

 

 15 

The experiences and progress of 
children looked after and achieving 
permanence 

Outstanding  

Summary 
 
Children looked after in Westminster receive an outstanding service. Significant 
improvements have been made since the last inspection in October 2011, when 
services were judged to be good. The tri-borough partnership has centralised and 
amalgamated key services for children looked after, achieving economies of scale, 
and improvements in consistency and in the quality of social work practice. The 
local authority is able to demonstrate innovative practice, with areas of 
outstanding and sustained progress leading to exceptionally good outcomes for 
young people. Children and young people have consistent and enduring 
relationships with committed, skilled and determined social workers. 

Decisions for children and young people to become looked after are appropriate, 
and informed by strong assessments and good-quality chronologies that support 
care planning. Decision making is timely and there is a sense of urgency in 
establishing permanent and stable homes for children who are unable to live with 
their families. Court work is of a consistently high standard. Children are supported 
to return home when this is in their best interests and exceptional effort is made to 
support children to remain in their wider families, including placing children 
abroad.  

The local authority is a highly ambitious corporate parent. A co-located child and 
adolescent mental health service and a proactive virtual school all work to support 
each individual child. As a result, children and young people do well in education, 
placement stability is good and children feel safe.  

Members of the children in care council have regular, positive contact with senior 
managers, whom they know well. Elected members and strategic leaders give high 
priority to children in their care. The corporate parenting board provides strong 
leadership and champions the needs of all children. A vibrant culture of celebrating 
successes and achievements of young people is embedded and there is an active 
and influential children and young people’s panel. 

Adoption services are outstanding. They are extremely well managed, with 
adoption considered for a diverse group of children, including older children, 
brothers and sisters, and children from a wide range of cultural backgrounds, with 
consistently outstanding work. Adoption support is very strong, with innovative 
services in place to support adopters. 

Care leavers receive a good service overall and have a high profile in Westminster. 
The local authority is aware that greater focus needs to be given to young care 
leavers in custody. 

Page 65



 

 

   16 

30. Westminster has a strong tradition and culture of enabling children to remain 
with their families, if it is safe for them to do so. The number of children looked 
after in Westminster has remained stable. Senior managers routinely monitor 
and analyse any trends to ensure that they understand the changing needs of 
vulnerable children in their community. 

31. When children become looked after, decision making is timely and there is a 
culture of urgency, ensuring that children have permanent and stable homes if 
they cannot live with their families. Assessments are of a high quality, with 
many being outstanding. They are timely, comprehensive and analytical, and 
lead to appropriately focused help that is well informed by historical events. 
Clear, up-to-date chronologies demonstrate outstanding practice, helping 
children to understand why they are in care. Prompt action is taken to 
safeguard children. Risk is understood and responded to well. Assessments for 
children pre-birth are strong, and timely action results in robust plans.  

32. The tri-borough partnership’s senior leaders are highly ambitious, outward 
looking and pioneering in developing innovative, effective, preventative 
approaches to reduce the number of children coming into care. For example, 
the Action for Change project supports 45 women who have previously had a 
number of children removed by the courts. To date, only one child has since 
been born and has remained with its mother. Woman are effectively supported 
to come to terms with previous traumas.    

33. Of the 167 children and young people looked after at the time of the inspection, 
26% were under the age of 10 and 32% were over 16, and there were 31 
unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people. Staff are trained to meet this 
changing profile, working effectively across cultures on human rights and age 
assessments. 

34. Care proceedings are only initiated when it is in the child’s best interests. 
Strong management oversight at a tri-borough and local level by the executive 
director of children’s services ensures that pre-proceedings work is of a very 
high standard. Pre-proceedings letters are clear, succinct, well-evidenced and 
use straightforward language.  

35. Cafcass reports that the tri-borough partnership is ‘leading the way’ and the 
view of the judiciary is that the tri-borough arrangements ‘stand out as leading 
good practice’ across London. Performance in Westminster for the third quarter 
of 2015–16 was 29 weeks for care proceedings, which is slightly above the 
expected timescale of 26 weeks. The local authority has a coherent, well-
analysed understanding of timeliness for each case, including where this has 
been impacted upon by its participation in the innovative family drug and 
alcohol court. 

36. Parallel planning is rigorously and systematically applied. Family group 
conferences (FGCs) are used early to inform care planning and to identify 
extended family members. Exceptional effort and expertise are employed to 

Page 66



 

 

 17 

ensure that children have the opportunity to live within their families. This 
includes examples of outstanding practice in placing children abroad. The local 
authority minimises the additional time this might take by ensuring that foster-
to-adopt placements are available for these children.  

37. Children who return home following a safe assessment are fully supported. The 
Going Home project is undertaking innovative tri-borough research with 10 
young people looked after in Westminster, enabling them to remain at home 
safely with their families. 

38. Children and young people are visited often and seen alone, with 96% of visits 
within expected timescales. Case recording is clear and up to date, and the 
voice of the child is consistently evidenced. Direct work and engagement with 
children and young people are a particular strength. Effective direct work was 
seen, with social workers being persistent in developing relationships with 
‘harder to engage’ or resistant young people. All young people who spoke to 
inspectors had had consistent social worker relationships. Some young people 
had had the same social worker for more than five years, or up to 11 years. 
Significant effort is made to engage with challenging or avoidant families, 
including good use of a wider network of professionals to support parents. 

39. Robust monitoring and understanding of children going missing and child sexual 
exploitation are driven assertively and confidently by a missing children 
coordinator and the MASE panel. Considerable work has been undertaken to 
ensure that children looked after who go missing are safe and their experiences 
understood. An audit of 40 missing children in July 2015 identified the need to 
work further on routine take-up of ‘return’ interviews. This is improving, 
evidenced by cases tracked and sampled, and data on the reduction of missing 
episodes. Professionals have a good understanding of the push and pull factors 
for individual children going missing, and recent training has enhanced ways to 
work with young people to keep them safe. 

40. The health needs of young people are met well through a dedicated looked 
after children nurse, and the quality of health assessments is strong. About 
70% of initial health assessments and 98% of annual health assessments take 
place on time. Three quarters of young people have had a dental check in-year, 
so far. Young people who spoke to inspectors were aware of the role of the 
nurse, including being given information on drug and alcohol services and 
sexual health.  

41. Child and adolescent mental health services (CAMHS) involvement is responsive 
and timely. There is no waiting list and contact is usually within two weeks, but 
will be immediate if the risk is high. Clinical expertise and advice are embedded 
throughout the service through regular consultations with frontline managers 
and by CAMHS representation on both the transitions and the adoption panels. 
Cases seen by inspectors showed the positive impact of this service, including 
direct work with carers supporting brothers and sisters to live together. 

Page 67



 

 

   18 

42. Most children looked after achieve well educationally and make good progress 
from their starting points. The virtual headteacher and team have good 
oversight of the attendance, progress and achievement of children looked after. 
They have a thorough understanding of the individual needs and circumstances 
of all children. Staff maintain a comprehensive database and act swiftly when 
children, including those who live outside of the area, begin to experience 
problems with their education. Staff effectively target their support towards 
those children who are most at risk of not achieving, and intervene effectively. 

43. Children told inspectors that they enjoy their education and spoke highly of the 
support they receive at school. Most attend a school that has been judged good 
or better. In 2014/15, all children at Key Stage 1 achieved well in reading and 
mathematics, and made the progress expected of all children. There is a strong 
track record of childen looked after achieving well by the time they reach 11 
years old. In 2014/15, all children at Key Stage 2 achieved age-related 
expectations in reading, writing and mathematics. At Key Stage 4, 
approximately one third of children achieved five GCSEs at grades A* to C, 
including English and mathematics, which is higher than children looked after in 
similar areas.  

44. The achievement gap is narrowing well between children looked after and their 
peers. In 2014/15, children looked after at Key Stage 2 achieved better than 
their peers. At Key Stage 4, local data for 2014/15 show that while the 
achievement gap remained wide, with a 25% gap between children looked 
after and their peers achieving five GCSEs at grades A* to C, including English 
and mathematics, it had narrowed by approximately 10%.   

45. Specialist personal advisers provide effective support for young people’s 
participation in post-16 education. They maintain good contact with young 
people who have become disengaged with education, employment or training 
(EET). Personal advisers know young people well and carefully plan their next 
steps in EET. As a result, most young people remain in EET in Years 12 and 13.  

46. Timely intervention helps avoid unnecessary exclusions and disruptions to 
children’s education. Staff advocate effectively on behalf of children and put in 
place sound strategies to ensure that children stay in school. As a result, there 
have been no permanent exclusions of children looked after for many years, 
and the use of fixed-term exclusions is being reduced well. Where children are 
awaiting a school place, individual tuition is quickly put in place. 

47. Staff receive early alerts when children’s attendance drops, and intervene 
quickly and effectively. As a result, overall school attendance of children looked 
after is good, and has been so for the last three academic years. The 
percentage of sessions missed by children looked after is reducing and is lower 
than those in similar areas. Unauthorised absence is being reduced well. Few 
children and young people report incidents of bullying, and most would turn to 
a trusted adult in the network should they be bullied or become concerned 
about their safety.  

Page 68



 

 

 19 

48. The vast majority of children looked after have an up-to-date personal 
education plan (PEP). Professionals, including social workers, designated 
teachers and the virtual school share information well to review the progress 
that children are making and put in place additional support where it is needed. 
Most children looked after report that they find their PEP reviews useful. In a 
very small number of cases sampled, PEPs varied in quality. 

49. Inspectors found many examples where the pupil premium is being used 
effectively to support children and young people’s progress. For example, 
funding is used well to provide additional tuition for children, laptops to assist 
with research and homework, and revision aids. However, in a minority of cases 
it was not sufficiently clear how the pupil premium was being used to support 
the specific individual needs of children.   

50. Children looked after are encouraged to pursue a range of inspirational social 
and recreational activities. Recent examples include: visits to the Victoria and 
Albert museum; a bike project; and a digital innovation and arts project. Social 
workers accompany children to London universities, health fun days, trips to 
the seaside and on a residential trip specifically for children under the age of 
11. Children told inspectors that senior leaders will intervene to ensure that 
they have specific experiences, for example opportunities to shadow a midwife 
or work experience in a barrister’s chambers. The Looked After Children 
Achievement Awards are held each October and older care leavers, established 
and settled in their lives, return to talk about their experiences. Delegated 
authority is in place for foster carers to take day-to-day decisions, so that 
children and young people can participate in the activities they enjoy.  

51. Long-term and short-term placement stability is very strong, with only 7% of 
children looked after at November 2015 having had more than three moves in 
the previous 12 months. Long-term placement stability in 2014–15 was 77% 
and for 2015–16 so far is at 79%, so it remains strong. A consultation on 
placement stability in September 2015 showed that eight of 11 young people in 
foster care felt a sense of stability and security. Five of these young people had 
lived with the same carer for more than five years. About 23% of children are 
placed outside Greater London in order to meet their specific needs. The local 
authority actively audits the experience of these children to ensure that they 
are receiving the best service. 

52. Independent reviewing officers (IROs) have manageable caseloads (averaging 
42), enabling them to drive permanency planning vigorously. They routinely 
attend permanency planning meetings and are committed, knowledgeable and 
passionate about their work. They know the young people well. Five formal 
challenges in the last six months were quickly addressed and did not progress 
any further, and most issues are addressed informally. Almost all reviews are 
on time, and care plans are clear and comprehensive. IROs ensure that the 
review meeting remains meaningful for settled young people by offering a more 
informal individualised experience and enabling young people to chair or co-
chair their review. About 97% of young people participate in their reviews. 

Page 69



 

 

   20 

IROs in Westminster benefit from regular meetings with tri-borough colleagues, 
including externally facilitated training and case discussion.  

53. Children and young people are specifically matched with long-term carers. 
About 77% live in foster care and 96% are placed in settings judged good or 
better by Ofsted. Brothers and sisters are placed together when this is in their 
interests. One case seen ensured that three children from one family were 
provided with additional support to live together, to allow a thorough 
assessment of their future needs.   

54. The tri-borough partnership’s fostering service has in-house placement choice, 
with wider flexibility to use staff, resources and carers. An ambitious and 
proactive fostering recruitment programme to recruit 25 new carers 
commenced in October 2015, with external support to fill the recognised gaps 
in placement choice for young people. The 16% net deficit for foster carers has 
arisen from positive reasons including retirement, offering permanent 
placements or ‘staying put’ arrangements. The recruitment and assessment of 
prospective foster carers are strong. The quality of assessments is good. They 
are thorough and sensitive, focusing on strengths and areas for development. A 
well-organised and separate tri-borough connected persons’ team responds in a 
timely and thorough way to all connected persons and special guardianship 
assessments. There are currently 18 special guardianship orders (SGOs) 
underway. 

55. Good support and training offered to foster carers result in strong retention. 
Respite care in fostering is only used to support placement stability. All carers 
spoke very highly about their supervising social workers. Annual reviews are 
regular and independently undertaken by dedicated fostering IROs, managed 
within a separate service. Creative use is made of all foster carers, for example 
supporting children who return home to parents or acting as a mentor for 
young people involved in drug and gang activity.  

56. Permanence planning is tightly managed and overseen effectively through tri-
borough and local management. Senior managers know and check on the 
progress of individual children through tracking systems and routine monitoring 
meetings. The small number of children with a plan for adoption is 
proportionate to the looked after population, and reflects the right plan being 
sought for children in a timely way. Children with a plan for adoption include 
older children, brothers and sisters, children with complex needs and children 
from a diverse range of cultures. Children’s permanency needs are informed by 
high-quality ‘together or apart’ assessments and child permanence reports. 
These are consistently well analysed and well evidenced. Contact is 
appropriately considered.  

57. Consultation and participation with children looked after is outstanding. A 
dedicated participation worker drives this work, but it is viewed as everyone’s 
responsibility and embedded throughout the service. This is evidenced through 
direct input and active involvement of social workers, the virtual school, IROs 

Page 70



 

 

 21 

and senior managers, including the director of family services and the tri-
borough assistant director for looked after children and care leavers. The 
children in care council, known as the children and young people’s panel 
(CYPP), is lively, reflective, committed and proactive. Its role is valued and it is 
keen to represent all young people looked after. Alongside the participation 
worker, members of the CYPP present findings from consultations to the 
corporate parenting board. Children and young people are members of 
recruitment panels for social workers and senior staff. They are trainers on 
fostering skills courses for prospective carers, advising on the personal qualities 
required to be a foster carer. They have redesigned the statutory review 
document, which is now child-friendly. 

58. Formal complaints from children looked after are low, and a tri-borough 
complaints service ensures that it resolves any concerns at an early stage. Pro-
active involvement of the children’s rights officer ensures that the majority of 
representations made by children looked after and care leavers are responded 
to effectively. They rarely need to be considered in the formal complaints 
process. For example, care leavers raised concerns about the impact of changes 
in housing benefits on housing options. This resulted in workshops facilitated by 
the housing officer and individual welfare rights sessions, for young people 
directly affected. The young people were supported in developing a leaflet to 
enable all care leavers to have access to appropriate help and support. 

59. Consistently strong efforts are made to ensure that children’s cultures and 
religious and belief systems are understood, and inform care planning. 
Examples were seen of outstanding social work practice that included sensitive, 
direct work with unaccompanied asylum-seeking young people, using an 
interpreter to understand the young person’s experiences, and culturally 
matched family group conferences that enabled children to live in their birth 
families.  

 

The graded judgement for adoption performance is that it is outstanding 

 

60. Securing permanence through adoption is a high priority in Westminster. 
Adoption services are managed effectively within a single, overarching, tri-
borough service. Sharing strategic functions results in economies of scale in 
relation to resources, and an environment where creativity and innovation 
thrive, demonstrating consistently high-quality professional practice. 
Consequently, children benefit from an outstanding service. 

61. Adoption is considered for all children and there is a comprehensive 
understanding of clear permanence planning, ensuring that the best 
permanence option is considered for children at the earliest stage. This way of 
working is threaded through the tri-borough partnership’s understanding of 
permanence and adoption practice, and is given the highest priority. This is 

Page 71



 

 

   22 

shown, for example, in the work of the permanency project, which is chaired by 
the tri-borough executive director and ensures that pro-active work with the 
courts is completed, to secure agreement for family-finding, prior to the 
placement order.    

62. Adoption managers demonstrate a clear, well-analysed and sophisticated 
understanding of adoption practice and of the wider adoption market. They 
routinely reflect and measure their own performance against national indicators 
and other London boroughs. There is a range of comprehensive tracking and 
monitoring systems for adoption performance, including detailed analysis of any 
issues affecting timeliness and to assist with understanding the needs of 
individual children.  

63. Arrangements to monitor the progress of children who are subject to an 
adoption plan are robust. Staff, including senior managers, have a detailed 
knowledge of all children, what is happening for them and why. The progress 
made by individual children waiting for adoption is closely monitored and 
placement options are continuously explored.  

64. The adoption reform grant has been used effectively to drive improvements and 
create extra posts. For example, the move to appoint to the pivotal gateway 
role of a permanency coordinator is highly insightful, and regular permanence 
planning meeting minutes demonstrate exceptional practice in the rigour and 
thought put into highly effective planning. 

65. In the year 2014–15, 15 children were adopted, and within the past 12 months, 
nine children were adopted. At the time of the inspection, the local authority 
had nine children who were awaiting a match, and six children matched to 
adopters but awaiting a final order. Adoption practice reflects the authority’s 
commitment to early family-finding, to securing adoption for children placed 
with their brothers and sisters and for children from a variety of ethnic 
backgrounds. 

66. Performance against the adoption scorecard for 2011–14 is strong. Children in 
Westminster waited an average of 512 days between entering care and moving 
in with an adoptive family, well within the national threshold of 547 days. 

67. The scorecard for 2011–14 shows that children in Westminster waited an 
average of 196 days between receiving court authority to place and an adoptive 
match being decided. This is outside the national threshold of 152 days. 
However, inspectors identified reasonable delay due to the complexity of the 
careful work required in matching children with families who can meet their 
needs. 

68. The service is successful in recruiting adopters, with 46 adopters awaiting a 
match, including 18 approved in the current year. The tri-borough partnership 
ensures that adopters are available for inter-agency placements and routinely 

Page 72



 

 

 23 

uses the adoption register and other national matching forums for both children 
and adopters waiting for a match. 

69. Assessments of prospective adopters are thorough and of a very high standard. 
The service is actively working to improve timeliness for adopter assessments. 
Delays are mostly outside the service’s control. The impact of this has been 
minimal on adopters and children. Adopters spoken to were very positive about 
the recruitment and assessment process. 

70. The tri-borough partnership has a clear foster-to-adopt policy that guides social 
work practice, resulting in early permanence placements being made. Both 
foster-to-adopt and concurrent arrangements are discussed with every adopter 
and the first concurrent adopter has recently been recruited. Some adopter 
assessments have been fast-tracked to prevent delay, including where a 
specific foster-to-adopt match is a possibility and for second-time adopters. 

71. Managers of the service are reflective and thoughtful, and continue to consider 
how the service could be improved. This includes working with an external 
agency to increase recruitment, enhancing the capacity of adopters to meet 
children’s needs and to support, train and equip adopters to feel confident. 
Thirteen mentors have been recruited to support adopters through the 
recruitment process from the outset, and adopters spoke of the value they 
place on the mentor support offered.   

72. Forty adopters have undertaken therapeutic parenting training and have 
reported feeling more confident as a result. Innovative workshops have 
included adopters working with a psychologist to increase openness in 
matching, particularly in relation to mental health. 

73. The tri-borough fostering and adoption panel is well chaired by two chairs who 
bring a range of adoption and safeguarding experience. There are clear quality 
assurance processes, and adopters spoken to confirmed that the process was 
rigorous.  

74. Prospective adopter reports and child permanence reports are consistently 
strong, with appropriate detail and a good level of analysis. The panel process 
and the decision-making process are highly effective, with all panel minutes and 
agency decision-maker decisions being thorough and well considered.  

75. Managers routinely analyse any issues that impact on performance and make 
adjustments as required. For example, managers noticed a slower application 
for adoption orders in inter-agency placements when the adoption family-
finding worker had withdrawn. To remedy this, the service now ensures that 
the family-finder remains involved until the applications have been submitted 
for these children. 

76. Adoption support is exceptionally strong, with an impressive and effective range 
of provision. Adopters are aware of their entitlement to adoption support. They 
spoke positively about support offered, and adoption support plans were 

Page 73



 

 

   24 

consistently good. This was supported by the view of the independent chair. 
Good use is made of the adoption support fund for individual children.  

77. Children are extremely well supported to prepare them to live with their future 
families. Life story work is of a high quality. It is clear, colourful and jargon-
free. Social workers are skilled in undertaking direct work with children, helping 
them to understand their histories and enabling them to establish attachment 
to their new family. This allows children to settle quickly, with very low 
adoption disruptions. There have been two disruptions in the past two years. 
Where disruptions have occurred, effective and timely disruption meetings have 
taken place, and learning has been embedded in organisational practice and 
planning for individual children. 

78. Provision for birth parents is through an independent commissioned service. 
The provision offered is comprehensive and includes birth parent counselling, 
support and advice, including literacy help with ‘letterbox’ contact. The service 
also facilitates information sharing between an adopted child, their birth family 
and the adoptive family. Currently, the service facilitates ‘letterbox’ contact for 
89 Westminster children and supervises direct contact with their birth family for 
three adopted children. 

The graded judgement for the experiences and progress of care leavers is 
that it is good 

 

79. Staff in the leaving care service are skilled in building strong relationships with 
care leavers. Personal advisers know young people well and have a good 
understanding of their individual needs and circumstances. They maintain 
regular and effective contact and offer good practical support, such as 
accompanying them to health appointments and to college interviews. Young 
people benefit from working with a supportive, flexible and experienced team. 
Clinicians are available to assist in complex cases, effectively reducing risk.  

80. Care leavers aged 18 or over, and especially those with additional 
vulnerabilities, who go missing or are at risk of sexual and gang exploitation, 
are effectively monitored by senior managers. They are included in a risk log of 
cases discussed routinely by the tri-borough assistant director for looked after 
children and the Westminster director of family services. 

81. Specialist personal advisers work consistently to support young people’s career 
and vocational aspirations. They provide effective challenge and guidance to 
young people on their career options and next steps in education, employment 
or training (EET). As a result, a good and increasing proportion of care leavers 
are in EET. Some care leavers report that they would like more help in finding 
part-time work, work experience and work placements. Plans are well-advanced 
to broaden work experience opportunities and vocational mentoring for young 
people leaving care.  

Page 74



 

 

 25 

82. The local authority has high aspirations for care leavers. These are reflected in 
the excellent work undertaken by the virtual school, personal advisers and 
social workers in promoting university as an option for young people. There are 
currently 20 young people at university. They benefit from good financial 
support to attend. In a minority of cases, the accommodation needs of care 
leavers during holiday periods are not considered in a timely fashion and this 
leads to a small number of young people feeling anxious about where and with 
whom they will stay. 

83. In general, the local authority has closely considered the accommodation needs 
of care leavers and options for them. There is a good range of accommodation 
available to young people and a good proportion of care leavers live in suitable 
accommodation. Managers from the leaving care service and housing 
department have worked successfully together to increase and broaden the 
range of housing options available to young people, such as affordable private 
rented accommodation.  

84. In most cases sampled by inspectors, the accommodation needs of young 
people are being met effectively. The different levels of support needed by 
young people are well understood. As a result, care leavers are in 
accommodation where they are well supported. Young people who spoke to 
inspectors said that they felt safe where they lived. The service works 
collaboratively with housing, health and adult social care, improving transition 
arrangements. Those young people with additional needs are supported well by 
the complex needs panel.  

85. Bed and breakfast accommodation is rarely used, and never for young people 
under 18 years old. In each of the three cases in the last year where young 
people aged over 18 were placed briefly in bed and breakfast accommodation, 
managers carefully assessed the risks involved and staff provided good 
oversight of young people’s welfare.  

86. The local authority is responding effectively to the increasing number of 
unaccompanied asylum seekers who become care leavers. They are helped to 
settle quickly into accommodation and receive good support for their health and 
education needs.   

87. Local authority staff and partners provide good support to help care leavers 
build their skills to live independently, such as learning to save money, budget 
and cook for themselves. Housing providers deliver short courses that build 
young people’s skills and knowledge so that they can live independently. Most 
young people living independently successfully maintain their tenancies.  

88. A weekly group at the leaving care service develops young people’s practical 
skills well, including cooking, and provides good opportunities for their personal 
and social development through discussions on, for example, sexual health and 
personal safety. Young people have good opportunities to mix with others, 
make friends and extend their support network.  

Page 75



 

 

   26 

89. Pathway plans are mostly up to date, detailed and reflect the good current 
knowledge that personal advisers and managers have of young people’s 
circumstances. However, in a minority of cases, pathway plans are not timely 
and do not reflect young people’s current needs. In these cases, planning is not 
as effective and outcomes for a small number of young people are not 
improving.   

90. Managers and staff ensure that there is highly effective participation of care 
leavers in developing and improving services. Young people are routinely 
involved in staff recruitment, in the training of foster carers and in promoting 
the rights and entitlements of their peers.  

91. Young people receive good financial support to achieve their goals. The local 
authority provides good financial support for those attending university through 
an annual ‘parental contribution’. Top-up funding for young people on 
apprenticeships is available, and young people are entitled to £2,000 to set up 
their first home. For those young people in further education, additional tuition 
is provided where necessary.    

92. A CAMHS team for children looked after is co-located in the leaving care 
service, providing direct intervention and emotional support. Young people 
know their health history and are well placed to manage their own health. All 
young people have a final health assessment, receive information on any 
outstanding health needs and have an up-to-date copy of their health care 
plan, including a summary of their health history. They are given information 
about who to contact should they have concerns about their health and can 
contact the nurse for children looked after should they wish to. In most cases 
sampled, care leavers are well supported in accessing health services, including 
keeping GP appointments and accessing specialist health services. 

93. Managers and personal advisers have not maintained regular enough oversight 
and contact with all care leavers who are in custody. This means that not 
enough has been known about all of the young people’s current circumstances, 
welfare or progress. As a result of the inspection, managers have undertaken a 
thorough review of all custody cases and the needs of these young people are 
now being prioritised (Recommendation). 

  

Page 76



 

 

 27 

Leadership, management and 
governance 

Outstanding  

Summary 

Stable and highly effective operational and political leadership ensures that children 
and families in Westminster benefit from good or outstanding services. Senior 
leaders and elected members have high aspirations for children. They demonstrate 
care and compassion, and a rigorous approach to achieving excellence at all levels. 
They have a comprehensive knowledge of the strengths and areas for improvement 
and are quickly responsive to external challenge.  

Underpinning their work is an imaginative approach, enhanced by the exemplary tri-
borough partnership, to service provision and problem solving. Robust collaborative 
arrangements help services to meet local need effectively. The tri-borough director 
of children’s services is a pivotal figure and manages this complex set of 
arrangements exceptionally well. Consequently, the local authority has demonstrated 
significant continuous improvement in quality of services since the last inspection in 
2011. 

The director of family services is highly visible and an effective leader. As a result, 
the quality of social work practice is consistently good or outstanding. Managers are 
not complacent. Instead, systematic learning from direct observations enables senior 
managers to quickly identify and resolve any practice concerns, ensuring that 
services are continually improving and are highly effective. A strong and embedded 
child-focused culture ensures that children and young people are listened to and are 
influential in informing service delivery. Vulnerable children and families benefit from 
exceptional, well-targeted early help and specialist services, commissioned 
specifically to reflect the complex diversity of the local population. 

A comprehensive performance management system is a core element of success. 
Professional accountability and rigorous management oversight enable senior leaders 
to be extremely knowledgeable about the impact of services provided.  

Strong partnership arrangements and robust multi-agency working ensure that work 
with gangs is integrated and that work with children at risk of child sexual 
exploitation is well coordinated and highly effective. An effective and accountable 
Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) ensures that partners work well together 
to safeguard children and young people.   

Services for children looked after or those requiring adoption are outstanding. 
Corporate parenting is well established across the council. 

The commitment to implementing the ‘focus on practice’ innovation project is 
attracting high-calibre workers who are delivering outstanding social work practice, 
improving the lives of vulnerable children and families in the borough.   

  

Page 77



 

 

   28 

94. Exceptional tri-borough management arrangements, led by the executive 
director for children’s services (DCS), are exemplified by the well-managed 
‘focus on practice’ initiative. Funded as part of the government’s innovation 
programme, this highly innovative project enhances social work intervention by 
adopting a well thought through and well-resourced model of practice. 
Innovative elements include a comprehensive and accredited training 
programme, and skills coaching from trained specialist practitioners. The model 
has been widely disseminated, and is clearly fully accepted and implemented 
across the workforce. The role of principal social worker, fully integrated into 
the ‘focus on practice’ approach, is effectively enhancing improved direct work 
with families in Westminster and was widely in evidence to inspectors during 
case observation and case tracking.  

95. Very solid governance arrangements are firmly in place, and these ensure that 
the senior leadership team of the tri-borough partnership communicates 
regularly and effectively. A formal cycle of meetings between the DCS, the 
LSCB chair, senior leaders such as the three borough chief executives and 
elected members makes sure that they are very well informed on matters for 
which they hold strategic responsibility. Senior leaders operate within a culture 
of respectful challenge and they hold each other to account. The senior 
management team, including the DCS, is highly interactive with frontline 
services. Senior managers know individual children and social workers very 
well. Highly effective lines of communication from frontline social workers to 
senior leaders enable them to know their services to children thoroughly and 
extensively.  

96. The Westminster director of family services has an accurate view of the service 
she leads and shows exceptionally strong leadership and commitment to 
continued improvement, working diligently to progress the small number of 
areas for improvement that remain. There is no complacency. Instead, a strong 
culture of continuous learning, professional accountability and responsibility, 
devoid of blame, enables staff to flourish in a safe but challenging environment.  

97. The lead member in Westminster annually identifies ‘city for all’ key 
performance areas identified for improvement. An accessible monthly update 
report on progress is presented at each scrutiny committee and is subject to 
rigorous challenge and debate. The cabinet member for children chairs a six-
weekly ‘hotspots’ meeting to ensure thorough examination and awareness of 
high-risk cases. The chief executive is accessible to all staff through his regular 
‘meet the chief’ days, and young people know who the senior managers are. 
The lead member undertakes regular visits to meet service users. A meeting 
with foster carers, to understand their role better and to encourage applicants, 
led to implementing a total rebate of council tax to foster carers and a 
significant increase in initial enquiries locally.  

98. An active and pro-active well-established corporate parenting panel ensures 
that priorities for the local authority are closely aligned to the ‘children in care 
and care leavers strategy’. The inclusion of an opposition-elected member, 

Page 78



 

 

 29 

initiated by the lead member, has improved the challenge and scrutiny of the 
panel and strengthened corporate parenting across the council. There is clear 
evidence of impact in Westminster, demonstrated through the work of the 
virtual school in improving educational outcomes for children looked after and 
of the council’s housing commissioner in increased housing options for care 
leavers. 

99. A comprehensive learning and improvement framework sets out clear 
expectations, and ensures that thorough oversight by senior managers drives 
improvements in practice. The ‘learning and improvement framework’ quarterly 
report is highly effective in collating findings from serious case reviews, user 
feedback (including from young people, parents and carers), complaints and 
compliments, monthly audits and practice weeks. Highly rigorous performance 
management means that senior leaders in the tri-borough partnership are very 
aware of the comparative performance of the services that they provide to 
children. A comprehensive suite of concise and consistent performance reports 
means that managers and leaders are knowledgeable and well informed about 
their service’s performance against key indicators, and this enables them to 
understand it very well. Detailed scrutiny and correction of any performance 
deficits supports the delivery of social work of a very high quality, and means 
that an ever-greater number of children receive a high-quality service. 

100. Data analysts in the borough work closely with social workers, enabling them to 
contribute fully to performance scrutiny and improvement. Team-level data 
provide opportunity for healthy performance comparison, and monthly 
management discussions improve consistency of practice and outcomes across 
teams. Dips in performance, quickly identified, are addressed appropriately at 
team and individual level.  

101. Robust analysis of data leads to innovative and creative solutions. As a result of 
very low numbers of referrals concerning female genital mutilation in 
Westminster, a successful DfE innovation fund pilot project, established at St 
Mary’s Hospital, created referral pathways between health, maternity and 
children’s services to assess risk, support victims and communities, and ensure 
effective monitoring and information sharing at all points of a girl’s life. This 
outstanding, sensitive and culturally creative practice has led to increased 
confidence in the women and, in 18 months, 42 have received appropriate help 
and support.  

102. Very strong oversight by managers of practice means that they are fully 
assured that it is of a consistently high quality. Scrutiny of case records by 
inspectors indicates that management supervision is frequent, regular and 
evident on the child’s file. Records generally evidence a very firm focus on the 
child. This child-centred approach is strongly supported by the work of 
innovation-funded advanced and specialist practitioners, and clinicians. All of 
these highly skilled and well-trained professionals are embedded within the 
social work teams as part of ‘focus on practice’, and they add significant value 
by ensuring that managers do not have to buy in specialist services at 

Page 79



 

 

   30 

considerable additional expense. Social workers have regular opportunities in 
reflective group supervision to discuss cases, identify areas for practice 
improvement and share learning.  

103. Performance management is significantly enhanced by the use of highly 
innovative and regular ‘practice weeks’, which include extensive case audits and 
practice observations undertaken by senior managers. Full participation by a 
range of services provides invaluable insight into the actual quality of practice. 
An extensive overview is delivered on the impact of social work intervention on 
children’s lives. Inquisitive and detailed analysis of the key findings leads to 
tangible recommendations to support continuously improving performance. 
Detailed feedback is provided immediately to social workers. Young people and 
family members are able to comment on their experiences, and the 
effectiveness of the help and support they have been offered. Areas for 
improvement are quickly identified and change is swiftly and positively effected.  

104. The development of high-quality chronologies, effectively informing 
assessments and analysis of risk, is an example of tangible improvement in 
practice, as a result. Work with fathers and wider family members has improved 
as a direct result of learning from serious case reviews and directly observed 
practice. 

105. Excellent workforce planning means that the tri-borough partnership has a very 
stable and experienced workforce. This enhances the consistency and quality of 
service. Using high-quality performance reports, senior managers are helped to 
understand the workforce fully and to ensure that practice standards are 
rigorously maintained. They describe a ‘virtuous circle’ in which quality 
candidates or students aspire to work in the tri-borough partnership. The offer 
of protected, and then very low, caseloads, and career development through 
training and promotion opportunities, attracts, then retains, high-calibre social 
workers. The skilled and well-trained staff group is able to deliver the highly 
innovative and aspirational ‘focus on practice’ outcomes.  

106. Experienced social workers are enabled to continue in practice and to develop 
and promote their own and others’ social work skills without going into 
management, through becoming advanced or specialist practitioners, or 
qualified family therapists. Children benefit directly from the wide range of 
social work knowledge and expertise that is available to support the help that 
they receive.  

107. Social workers in the borough told inspectors that ‘high-quality practice is 
possible due to manageable caseloads, accessible resources to support families, 
and excellent supervision’. The local authority values its workforce and acts 
creatively to support it, providing career development and training opportunities 
to attract and retain high-calibre workers. Secondment and internal acting-up 
opportunities retain social workers with local knowledge, and commitment to 
Frontline and ‘Step up to social work’ enables workers to move into specialist 
practitioner or management posts, creating a stable and loyal workforce. 

Page 80



 

 

 31 

108. A dedicated and talented specialist team operates to a well-established and 
highly coherent model of commissioning, including joint commissioning. 
Significant additional resources have been drawn down to support services in a 
very wide variety of ways, using collaborative commissioning techniques. The 
demographics of the tri-borough partnership means that commissioners can 
draw on trust funds, philanthropic giving and social enterprises to a greater 
extent than in other areas. Tri-borough commissioners are therefore 
exceptionally skilled at brokering additional resources and using these to add 
considerable value to existing services. Tri-borough commissioners are also 
highly active in shaping resources to meet identified need. They have very 
efficiently decommissioned and recommissioned some services, such as semi-
independent living for care leavers.  

109. Westminster provides an extensive range of high-quality provision to support 
children and families that is responsive, accessible and accessed quickly. 
Targeted services, focused on identified need, are effective in enabling early 
support to families. Services tailored and commissioned to reflect the complex 
diversity of the local population are available to families, and social workers are 
pro-active in securing timely access. 

110. Significant progress has been made in addressing child sexual exploitation, with 
effective tri-borough multi-agency collaboration, ensuring swift information 
sharing and identification of children and young people at risk. Extensive work 
has been undertaken to understand the profile of children at risk across the tri-
borough partnership. Senior managers regularly evaluate interventions with 
higher-risk young people at multi-agency sexual exploitation panel (MASE) 
meetings. This highly effective multi-agency approach maps, tracks and 
intervenes, thereby reducing risks. Inspectors observed exceptional multi-
agency analytical work using technology to identify and disrupt dangerous 
perpetrators, linked to vulnerable children at risk of child sexual exploitation.  

111. Systematic information- and intelligence-sharing ensures there is a strategic 
focus on emerging or increasing risks. These are identified early through an 
innovative multi-agency integrated gangs unit (IGU) that meets weekly, 
tracking and intervening quickly with new gang affiliates. A dedicated gangs 
unit young women’s worker engages with young women at risk of sexual 
exploitation, and other forms of abuse and control, through their gang 
associations.   

112. Robust monitoring and understanding of missing children and child sexual 
exploitation is driven assertively, systematically and confidently by a tri-borough 
missing children coordinator and the MASE panel. Considerable work has been 
undertaken to ensure that children looked after who go missing are safe and 
their experiences understood. Senior managers evaluate responses to children 
missing. Each week, risks are monitored effectively and issues are escalated if 
necessary. The tri-borough strategic panel has recognised that further work is 
required to aggregate patterns and trends, and has effective plans to progress 
this work.   

Page 81



 

 

   32 

113. A strong emphasis on resolving dissatisfaction at an early stage means formal 
complaints are relatively low in number across the tri-borough partnership. 
Social workers, activity officers and participation workers build meaningful 
relationships with children and families, and work hard to resolve any 
dissatisfaction at an early stage before it escalates into a more formal 
investigation. Robust advocacy arrangements ensure that children and young 
people are well supported and helped to articulate their complaint. Complaints 
literature for children and young people has been reviewed and refreshed to 
ensure that the complaints process is better promoted and more easily 
understood. Thorough analysis of complaints and compliments effectively 
informs the learning and improvement framework, in recognition that learning 
from complaints is an important element of service development. Individual 
annual complaints reports for each borough appropriately reflect differing 
learning outcomes across the tri-borough partnership. Detailed training is 
successfully delivered to all managers and staff on effective handling of 
complaints. Children and young people are regularly consulted on six themes 
linked to the strategy for children looked after, so that they can inform service 
improvement and delivery.  

114. Pro-active involvement of a children’s rights specialist ensures that the majority 
of representations made by children and young people are responded to 
effectively and rarely need to be considered in the formal complaints process. 
Care leavers in Westminster, raising the issue of changes in housing benefits 
affecting accommodation options, resulted in workshops facilitated by the 
housing officer and individual welfare right sessions with young people directly 
affected. The young people developed a leaflet to enable care leavers across 
the tri-borough partnership to have access to appropriate help and support. 

115. The consistently high quality of pre-proceedings work across the tri-borough 
partnership means that social workers attend court having undertaken all 
necessary assessments to support robust and well-resourced care packages. 
Rigorous placement finding is very well-supported by a comprehensive 
sufficiency strategy, with clear links to the joint strategic needs assessment 
prepared by public health. Evidence to support care plans is consistently robust 
and includes appropriate and thorough consideration of family members. This 
significantly minimises delay in children looked after achieving the best possible 
plan for permanence. Positive relationships with Cafcass enable meaningful 
dialogue and challenge where differences arise and, as a result, all issues 
identified are effectively and quickly resolved. Joint quarterly reviews by senior 
managers of cases of children looked after in proceedings give them the 
opportunity for challenge and learning to improve services to children looked 
after. 

116. Statements and care plans presented in court are of a very high quality and 
support robust, well-considered decisions when children are in care 
proceedings. Social workers present their cases confidently and their evidence 
is clear and balanced. Timeliness of care proceedings is improving overall and, 
where it falls outside of 26-week timescales, in the main this is due to complex 

Page 82



 

 

 33 

cases and special guardianship orders. Judges report that tri-borough 
arrangements ‘stand out as leading good practice’ across London. The tri-
borough legal team is described as ‘exceptional’ and demonstrates a wide range 
of experience and knowledge that stand up to challenge and support robust 
recommendations to court. This secures the legal position of children looked 
after. 

117. The tri-borough and bi-borough ‘Prevent’ steering group and Channel panels 
are appropriately constituted. Relationships are mature, resulting in effective 
coordination, intelligence-sharing and work to raise awareness and prevent 
radicalisation. Quarterly meetings effectively retain oversight of the delivery of 
the ‘Prevent’ agenda across the three boroughs. Established links to the LSCB 
ensure that safeguarding children is prioritised, for example in direct work with 
parents’ groups, effective work in schools as part of the curriculum and 
sensitive engagement with faith communities. The interface between the 
‘Prevent’ team and children's services is strongly collaborative. Any young 
person referred to ‘Prevent’ is passed to the access and assessment teams and, 
similarly, referrals to ‘Prevent’ are regularly made by a range of teams in 
children’s services and also schools. The Channel process represents an area of 
strength in mutual collaboration between children's services, schools and the 
‘Prevent’ team, ensuring a safeguarding-focused and proportionate response to 
any referral. Proactive collaboration results in early detection and prevention.   

  

Page 83



 

 

   34 

The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 

The Local Safeguarding Children Board is good 

 

Executive summary 

 
Overall, amalgamation under a single LSCB creates significant benefits for young 
people and for all partner agencies. These include: rationalisation of time; the secure 
involvement of senior representatives from partner agencies, many of which span 
several boroughs; pooling resources to tackle issues in common; and alignment with 
tri-borough children’s services. The tri-borough partnership achieves the right 
balance between shared and local functions, and this ensures that children are 
effectively safeguarded. 

Robust links are in place between the LSCB and other statutory bodies. This allows 
the board to make sure that children’s safeguarding stays high on everyone’s 
agenda.  

Extensive engagement by partner agencies has been secured and the work of the 
board is therefore well-resourced through partners’ financial contributions. The 
board’s business support team would benefit from a work plan to sit alongside its 
business plan and drive through the priorities for children. 

Through systematic analysis of audits under section 11 of the Children Act 2004, the 
LSCB has assured itself that safeguarding is a priority for all partner agencies. The 
board’s quality assurance sub-group effectively monitors multi-agency safeguarding 
performance across the tri-borough partnership. Detailed analysis of data is routinely 
undertaken by the sub-group and reported to the board by exception, although the 
board would benefit from a review of this process to assure itself of its effectiveness. 
Actions arising from reviewing data lie with individual partner agencies, and no 
system is in place to monitor whether actions identified are carried through. 

Rigorous multi-agency themed audits have been systematically undertaken by the 
board. These audits provide appropriate recommendations for change, but further 
checks have not taken place to establish whether practice has actually changed or 
improved.  

Effective monitoring by the child sexual exploitation and missing sub-group enables 
the board to have a robust understanding of missing children and their behaviour 
across the tri-borough partnership. 

An established case review sub-committee ensures that lessons learnt from reviews 
are disseminated promptly across the tri-borough partnership. The sub-committee 
has clear action plans in place for each individual case review, but does not have an 
overall action plan to cover their ongoing work.  

A clear and detailed learning and improvement framework incorporates the learning 

Page 84



 

 

 35 

from serious case reviews, themed audits and performance monitoring by the board. 
The learning and development sub-group of the LSCB undertakes its role across the 
tri-borough partnership and ensures that sufficient safeguarding training is provided 
across all partner agencies. However, no formal analysis of the impact of training 
takes place either across the tri-borough partnership or at borough level.  

A wide range of activities to tackle the board's priorities and any lessons from serious 
case reviews are appropriately included in the LSCB annual report. An attendance log 
shows that some members have infrequent attendance, but no challenge is evident. 
A comprehensive safeguarding plan covers all of the board’s priorities. 

 
 

  

Page 85



 

 

   36 

Recommendations 

 
118. Review the extensive dataset to ensure that it is aligned to the board’s 

priorities.  

119. Devise a system for ensuring that actions arising from data scrutiny are carried 
out in the individual boroughs. 

120. Ensure that recommendations from multi-agency themed audits are carried out, 
and analyse their impact on improving practice.  

121. Develop an overarching SCR action plan to track the progress of work arising 
from individual case reviews. 

122. Devise a system to escalate concerns about infrequent partnership attendance 
at the board.  

Inspection findings – the Local Safeguarding Children Board 
 
123. LSCB arrangements are effectively shared, and almost all of the statutory 

functions of the LSCB and its sub-groups are delivered across the tri-borough 
partnership. Each borough appropriately maintains a local LSCB partnership 
group, and this ensures that local safeguarding issues are suitably considered 
and reported on to the LSCB. 

124. Governance arrangements between the LSCB, other key strategic bodies, 
elected members and chief executive officers in each of the respective bodies 
have been effectively developed by the board and are clearly documented. The 
independent chair links frequently with the DCS for the tri-borough partnership, 
while remaining appropriately independent. Key LSCB representatives such as 
the DCS are able to ensure that safeguarding children issues are considered 
across strategic boards and that elected members are engaged in the local 
LSCB partnership groups.  

125. The independent chair meets with the chief executives of each borough at least 
annually. However, this minimal involvement does not provide them with 
detailed oversight of safeguarding within the individual boroughs. The 
independent chair operates across the tri-borough partnership, and this limits 
the time available for maintaining links with key elected members and strategic 
partnership groups such as the health and well-being boards.  

126. The independent chair of the LSCB, who is long established in the role, actively 
promotes safeguarding issues across the partnership and community, and 
provides appropriate challenge. As a result, extensive engagement by partners 
has been secured across the full range of safeguarding work. Partners are 
encouraged and enabled by the chair to raise issues and challenges 
constructively. This is well evidenced in the minutes of the board and its sub-
groups. 

Page 86



 

 

 37 

127. The operational work of the board is well supported. Each of the key partners 
appropriately provides financial contributions, and these fund the business 
support team for the board. The team is actively involved in enabling 
community and service user involvement in the board’s work. The board was 
able to demonstrate the involvement of young people in developing publicity 
material, but acknowledges that the engagement of young people in helping to 
develop its work could be further enhanced.  

128. Over the past year there have been several changes in the business manager 
post-holder, and recently a new manager has been seconded to the post. While 
this has not impacted negatively on the support provided to the board, a 
business plan to coordinate the activities of the business support team and the 
work arising from LSCB and its sub-groups is not evidently in place. 

129. The LSCB has ensured effectively that safeguarding is a priority for all partner 
agencies. A bi-annual cycle of audits under section 11 of the Children Act 2004 
is currently being renewed. The board has developed and piloted a bespoke 
online self-assessment tool that is currently going live. Previous returns have 
been systematically analysed and reported to the board. Schools, in particular, 
are actively engaged and represented in the work of the board, as are the full 
range of health partners, police and representative voluntary sector 
organisations. 

130. The quality assurance group of the LSCB oversees partners’ multi-agency 
safeguarding performance across the tri-borough partnership. It draws upon 
both qualitative and quantitative data, and is supported by the tri-borough 
performance team in compiling data into a detailed, high-quality performance 
report. Partner agencies now contribute to the dataset, which was initially 
extensively based on local authority children’s services data. However, the LSCB 
has not systematically reviewed this extensive dataset to ensure that this is 
refined, aligned to its priorities and manageable (Recommendation). 

131. The dataset reported upon sufficiently enables the LSCB to interrogate its key 
safeguarding functions. Detailed analysis of the data is routinely undertaken by 
the sub-group and reported to the board, drawing out themes and trends. 
Partners provide commentary on the data supplied to clarify and add context to 
it. The group’s report to the LSCB is by exception, identifying issues that the 
board may want to interrogate further. Responsibility for actions arising from 
the scrutiny of data lies with individual agencies, but no system is in place to 
monitor whether actions identified are carried through (Recommendation). 

132. A varied programme of multi-agency themed audits has been systematically 
undertaken by partners on behalf of the board. These are appropriately 
selected in response to key issues arising from quality assurance and data 
analysis or to inform short-life working groups. These facilitate learning and 
identify key areas for improvement in services. For example, a focused audit of 
young people at risk of sexual exploitation identified effective practice through 
the involvement of systemic family therapists. While the multi-agency audits 

Page 87



 

 

   38 

provide recommendations for change, further auditing of the themed issues has 
not been undertaken to enable the LSCB to know whether practice has actually 
changed or improved as a result (Recommendation). 

133. The child sexual exploitation and missing sub-group of the LSCB effectively 
monitors information on children who go missing, and this enables the board to 
have a robust understanding of missing children and their behaviour across the 
tri-borough partnership. The missing person coordinator provides weekly 
information on missing children and ensures that this information is updated by 
operational workers. The coordinator maintains lists of both the top 10 missing 
young people across the tri-borough partnership, and the top 10 within each 
borough. This data is suitably analysed through a quarterly meeting, where 
reductions or escalations in missing episodes are discussed. Through this close 
analysis and weekly monitoring, the sub-group is aware that only a small 
number of young people are involved in the majority of missing episodes. This 
enables those young people to be closely monitored, and targeted work is 
undertaken with them to minimise risk. Through careful monitoring, the LSCB 
has a clear picture of the profile of child sexual exploitation and offending 
across the boroughs. Data mapping has helped build a picture of hotspots. All 
this information, as well as information on new cases, is fed into the MASE and 
the LSCB. This ensures that the LSCB has a clear understanding of child sexual 
exploitation: its profile; offenders; victims; and the quality and effectiveness of 
services, as well as the hotspots and places of concern. 

134. An established case review sub-committee across the tri-borough partnership 
has a balanced representation from all agencies, including representation of 
voluntary services and the police. It has appropriately recommended timely 
commissioning of serious case reviews (SCRs) to the LSCB, and these have 
been conducted with a suitable focus on the daily life of the child. The majority 
of reviews undertaken in recent years were completed within realistic 
timescales, and where there have been delays due to external constraints, for 
instance due to criminal proceedings, the sub-committee ensures that emerging 
lessons learned are shared prior to completion, to improve practice swiftly.    

135. The LSCB ensures that lessons from reviews are shared as well as outcomes, 
and these are disseminated promptly across the tri-borough partnership, 
regardless of their borough of origin. A detailed and succinct summary of 
lessons learned is circulated on a quarterly basis to all agencies and staff to 
promote awareness, and a representative of each agency is tasked to ensure its 
distribution. Participation on the case review sub-committee of the learning and 
development business manager helps ensure that priority is given to training 
needs identified as a result of SCRs, and that adjustments to training materials 
are made and cascaded to all multi-agency partners. The lead designated 
officer for the tri-borough partnership uses her extensive networks with other 
boroughs well, so that statutory safeguarding training reflects current practice. 

136. Significant cases that do not reach the thresholds for, or are outside the scope 
of, a serious case review are still reviewed, with a number of significant lessons 

Page 88



 

 

 39 

learned. The board carefully reviews the criteria for SCRs and, where 
necessary, will commission one even when formal thresholds are not met if it is 
considered that lessons can be learnt. The impact of SCRs is evaluated through 
case file auditing to check for the positive application of lessons learnt. 

137. Challenges identified by the SCR sub-committee align well with those faced by 
frontline workers, including tools to identify and assess early neglect, the 
quality of intervention in domestic violence, and issues around the mobility of 
abusive families. A wide range of methods is used to highlight and follow up 
identified themes and issues with all partners, including a useful website, 
additional community work and regular meetings with school improvement 
advisers. The sub-committee has good, close relationships with the three 
partnership boards, to share themes and provide advice to improve practice. 
The sub-committee has clear action plans in place for each individual case 
review but does not have an overall action plan to cover their ongoing work 
(Recommendation). 

138. The child death overview panel (CDOP) effectively undertakes its statutory 
duties across the tri-borough partnership. It is well attended and chaired. 
Members are well informed and demonstrate a clear understanding of trends in 
local child deaths and the reasons for these. The number of incidents across 
the tri-borough partnership is relatively low, with 23 reviews last year. As a 
result, there is no disaggregation of data by borough, although work is 
commencing with other CDOPs across north-west London to gain a fuller 
picture. Research undertaken into sudden unexplained death led to training for 
professionals, and awareness-raising around issues such as co-sleeping. A clear 
understanding of issues relevant to the area, such as deaths in private 
hospitals, abroad and of older children has all led to further work to drill down 
and understand the issues and helped to prevent further deaths. An example is 
work on vulnerabilities linked to death by stabbing. Social Care Institute of 
Excellence methodology has been used to undertake learning reviews, in some 
cases, with lessons appropriately disseminated. This is having a positive impact 
on practice.  

139. The CDOP produces an annual report, and this is suitably considered by the 
LSCB. The most recent report’s main theme is related to perinatal and neonatal 
incidents and life-threatening illnesses. A review of the neonatal deaths was 
undertaken and concluded that good care was provided. The report 
appropriately provides a breakdown by age and ethnicity, and some analysis of 
the issues. 

140. A clear and detailed learning and improvement framework has been developed, 
implemented and recently reviewed by the LSCB. This has incorporated the 
learning from serious case reviews, themed audits and performance monitoring 
by the board. The learning and development sub-group of the LSCB undertakes 
its role across the tri-borough partnership and it ensures that sufficient 
mandatory safeguarding training is provided across all partner agencies, both 
on a multi-agency basis and within individual partners’ training programmes. All 

Page 89



 

 

   40 

key voluntary and statutory partners are represented on the sub-group, and 
they are actively engaged in delivering, as well as developing, training. The 
sub-group has maintained core safeguarding training, while developing or 
updating training modules in response to current, high-profile safeguarding 
issues. For example, a practice-sharing conference on ‘Prevent’ for schools has 
been developed and is being followed up by similar events on child sexual 
exploitation and neglect. The training has led to increased referrals from 
schools and early years settings are also contacting ‘Prevent’ teams for training.  

141. Partners, particularly the voluntary sector, receive regular information and 
access to safeguarding training. 

142. Members of the learning and development sub-group are fully aware of the 
need to further develop its work and continually raise awareness of the LSCB. 
The sub-group has identified the need to undertake more systematic evaluation 
of the impact of the extensive safeguarding training provided through the LCSB. 
Currently, the sub-group primarily bases its evaluation of training on self-
reporting attendee questionnaires immediately following training sessions. Plans 
to develop this will require attendees to complete questionnaires three months 
after the training to evaluate what difference the training has made, but these 
are at an early stage. At the time of this review, there was too great a reliance 
on anecdotal information and no formal analysis of the impact of training, 
either across the tri-borough partnership or at borough level.  

143. Most training continues to be provided during the daytime in traditional 
classroom or conference-type environments. For some partners, releasing staff 
to attend this type of input is a challenge, and the sub-group has developed 
some more flexible sessions, for instance to enable police officers to attend. 
However, the provision of a wide range of e-learning modules, to improve 
access to training, has been delayed by internal technology challenges.  

144. The LSCB has ensured that the needs of key vulnerable groups of young people 
are systematically reported to, and considered by, the board. It has been 
proactive in supporting and developing a number of safeguarding services. For 
example, the LSCB has supported a pilot project to tackle female genital 
mutilation, an identified gap in services. As a result, 68 women have been 
supported in the last year through early help, and others through child in need 
or child protection plans. The board has been instrumental in the development 
of the harmful practices project, which also reports to the existing violence 
against women group. This tri-borough project tackles harmful practices such 
as forced marriage, honour-related violence and faith-based abuse. 

145. The highly effective neglect sub-group was formed as a short-life working 
group, following analysis of the high prevalence of neglect as a category for 
child protection plans. The multi-agency group extensively reviewed research, 
SCRs and direct work tools. It then completed a case file audit and established 
the most effective method of working with families to fit with existing 
structures, working practices and local need. A further aim of the group is to 

Page 90



 

 

 41 

raise awareness among practitioners. The toolkit subsequently developed 
highlights the daily experience of the neglected child and is currently being 
trialled for effectiveness by early help practitioners and social workers. Early 
indicators have shown that it creates a focus on the child rather than the 
family, and that parents have embraced this way of working. An awareness-
raising conference is currently being planned for May 2016 in partnership with 
the NSPCC. This will form the start of a campaign that aims to ensure that 
awareness of neglect reaches all services within the voluntary and statutory 
sector. Effectiveness will be measured through various means such as: a re-
audit of case files; increased consultation on neglect issues, both within partner 
organisations and with social care; and a reduction in the longer term of 
children on a child protection plan under neglect.  

146. The LSCB annual report describes a wide range of activity that has taken place 
to tackle the board's priorities, and lessons from SCRs are appropriately 
included. However, the report does not provide a rigorous and transparent 
assessment of safeguarding across the tri-borough partnership. Each priority 
has a 'what difference has it made' section, although the section is more 
process- or action-based, rather than evidencing outcomes for children. The 
report attempts to understand the population across the tri-borough 
partnership and the differences between them, although there is little analysis 
of this. No safeguarding data are presented in the report, and it does not detail 
any challenges or demonstrate their impact. An attendance log shows that 
some members have infrequent attendance, but there is no challenge to this 
outlined in the report (Recommendation). 

147. A comprehensive LSCB safeguarding plan suitably covers all of the board’s 
priorities. All actions have a lead organisation or sub-group attached, although 
there are no timescales for completion of those actions. The description of the 
evidence of impact is, in places, more outcome-focused than the business plan, 
although this could be further improved. 

148. Each borough has a partnership group that operates as a sub-group of the 
board. The chairs of each partnership group meet regularly to share 
information and are using individual boroughs well to trial potential new ways 
of working. An example is sharing the good practice trialled in Westminster 
around reducing numbers of children subject to child protection plans for more 
than two years.  

149. Westminster partnership group (WPG) is made up of representatives from 
across the borough’s services, including adults’ services and a lay member who 
actively seeks views from, and reports back to, the community. WPG has 
identified themes and priorities that are pertinent to Westminster and, when 
interviewed by inspectors, members demonstrated a good awareness of the 
issues, the demographic make-up of the borough and work that has been 
undertaken to tackle particular Westminster priorities. They act as a conduit of 
information between frontline services and the LSCB. 

Page 91



 

 

   42 

150. The group ensures that preventative work is undertaken in terms of its 
priorities, especially in relation to radicalisation and serious youth violence. 
Effective work by an organisation that provides services to young people at risk 
of violence, combined with awareness-raising work, has helped to protect some 
very vulnerable young people. For example, the group appropriately identified 
an issue of self-harm in a school, which was brought to their attention by 
health partners. As a result, work within the school was strengthened, a 
mapping exercise was undertaken to understand the issues further, and the 
curriculum was changed to include an enhanced offer around staying safe, 
suspicious websites and eating disorders. As a continuation of this work, a 
health website has been established which provides support and advice, and 
includes an anonymised forum where young people can leave questions that 
health professionals answer. 

151. The group was able to provide examples for inspectors of where their work in 
planning and influencing services has made a difference to children and young 
people across the borough. For example, work has been cascaded across 
schools in relation to prevention of child sexual exploitation, looking at issues 
such as relationships and consent. Some proactive work has been undertaken 
with schools looking at the 10 most worrying pupils and ensuring that 
preventative work is carried out before risk escalates. Another identified issue 
involved changes to housing benefit and the impact on families who had to 
move out of the area. Preventative and supportive work was undertaken to 
lessen the impact, and to ensure that, for families who had to move, services 
were in place to support them. 

  

Page 92



 

 

 43 

Information about this inspection 
 

Inspectors have looked closely at the experiences of children and young people who 
have needed or still need help and/or protection. This also includes children and 
young people who are looked after and young people who are leaving care and 
starting their lives as young adults. 

Inspectors considered the quality of work and the difference adults make to the lives 
of children, young people and families. They read case files, watched how 
professional staff work with families and each other and discussed the effectiveness 
of help and care given to children and young people. Wherever possible, they talked 
to children, young people and their families. In addition the inspectors have tried to 
understand what the local authority knows about how well it is performing, how well 
it is doing and what difference it is making for the people who it is trying to help, 
protect and look after. 

The inspection of the local authority was carried out under section 136 of the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006. 

The review of the Local Safeguarding Children Board was carried out under section 
15A of the Children Act 2004. 

Ofsted produces this report of the inspection of local authority functions and the 
review of the Local Safeguarding Children Board under its power to combine reports 
in accordance with section 152 of the Education and Inspections Act 2006. 

The inspection team consisted of seven of Her Majesty’s Inspectors (HMI) from 
Ofsted. 

The inspection team 
 

Lead inspector: Brenda McLaughlin 

Deputy lead inspector: Marcie Taylor 

Team inspectors: Andy Whippey, Anji Parker, Louise Hocking, Jon Bowman, Nick 
Stacey 

Shadow inspector: Joy Montgomery 

Senior data analyst: Patrick Thomson 

Quality assurance manager: Carolyn Adcock 

Page 93



 

 

   44 

Any complaints about the inspection or the report should be made following the procedures set out in 
the guidance ‘Raising concerns and making complaints about Ofsted’, which is available from Ofsted’s 

website: www.gov.uk/ofsted. If you would like Ofsted to send you a copy of the guidance, please 
telephone 0300123 4234, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

The Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills (Ofsted) regulates and inspects to 
achieve excellence in the care of children and young people, and in education and skills for learners of 

all ages. It regulates and inspects childcare and children's social care, and inspects the Children and 
Family Court Advisory and Support Service (Cafcass), schools, colleges, initial teacher training, further 

education and skills, adult and community learning, and education and training in prisons and other 

secure establishments. It assesses council children’s services, and inspects services for looked after 
children, safeguarding and child protection. 

 
If you would like a copy of this document in a different format, such as large print or Braille, please 

telephone 0300 123 1231, or email enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk. 
 

You may copy all or parts of this document for non-commercial educational purposes, as long as you 

give details of the source and date of publication and do not alter the information in any way. 
 

Interested in our work? You can subscribe to our monthly newsletter for more information and 
updates: http://eepurl.com/iTrDn.  

 

Piccadilly Gate 
Store Street 

Manchester 
M1 2WD 

 
T: 0300 123 1231 

Textphone: 0161 618 8524 

E: enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk  
W: www.gov.uk/ofsted  

© Crown copyright 2016 

Page 94

http://www.gov.uk/ofsted
mailto:enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
mailto:enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
http://eepurl.com/iTrDn
mailto:enquiries@ofsted.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/ofsted


     APPENDIX 2 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 95



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      

 

Page 96



1 of 5 

 

To: Alison Newcomb, Chair of West London Tri-Borough Youth Offending Service 
Reducing Reoffending Board 

Copy to: See copy list at end 

From: Alan MacDonald, Assistant Chief Inspector (Youth Justice) 

Publication date: 27 January 2016 

Report of Short Quality Screening (SQS) of youth offending work in West London 
Tri-Borough Youth Offending Service (YOS) 

The inspection was conducted from 14 -16 December 2015 as part of our programme of inspection 
of youth offending work. This report is published on the HMI Probation website. A copy will be 
provided to partner inspectorates to inform their inspections, and to the Youth Justice Board (YJB). 

Context 

The aim of the youth justice system is to prevent offending by children and young people. Good 
quality assessment and planning at the start of a sentence is critical to increasing the likelihood of 
positive outcomes. We examined 34 cases of children and young people who had recently 
offended and were supervised by West London Tri-Borough YOS. Wherever possible, this was 
undertaken in conjunction with the allocated case manager, thereby offering a learning 
opportunity for staff. 

Summary 

West London Tri-borough YOS came into being in January 2012 with the merger of the youth 
offending services of Westminster, Hammersmith & Fulham and Kensington & Chelsea. The 
published reoffending rates1 for each area were 43.6%, 49.6% and 47.2%, respectively. These 
figures were worse than the previous year and above the England and Wales average of 37.9%. 
Reoffending rates can fluctuate and should be understood in the context of the issues facing a 
local area and the complexity of cases in any sample. 

We found that the YOS was performing very well. Staff were enthusiastic, committed and their 
knowledge of cases was impressive. The quality of work was good enough across all areas of 
practice in the vast majority of cases. Engagement with children and young people was excellent. 
There were no areas of significant weakness although some improvements could be made to 
reviews and some aspects of planning and management oversight.

                                            
1 Published October 2015 based on binary reoffending rates after 12 months for the January 2013 – December 
2103 cohort. Source: Ministry of Justice 

Page 97



2 of 5 

 

Commentary on the inspection in West London: 

1. Reducing reoffending 

1.1. Case managers evidently had a solid understanding of the drivers for the offending 
behaviour of children and young people, with all 34 assessments found to be sufficient, 
and in several instances of high quality. Assessment is the foundation for effective 
planning and delivery, and this was evidenced in the work. As one inspector commented: 
“…the case manager had a strong sense of what the priority concerns were and 
sequenced the delivery of interventions in line with identified needs and risks. Account 
was taken of the young person's learning style and diversity needs and these were well 
evidenced in records”. Reviews were undertaken in all but 3 of 22 relevant cases. 

1.2. Pre-sentence reports (PSRs) were consistent and well-written. All 17 inspected gave an 
accurate account of offending behaviour. The quality assurance of PSRs by management 
was effective in each case. 

1.3. Planning work to address offending in the community was sufficient in 32 out of 33 cases. 
Inspectors found some exemplary practice: “…the planning in Jeremy’s case was 
excellent…The intervention plan was written in the young person’s language, was 
sequenced and was clear who was doing what. A very good piece of work”. Reviews were 
completed in 23 out of 25 relevant cases. 

1.4. Nine of our sample involved children and young people subject to custodial sentences. In 
two cases, sentence planning to reduce reoffending was insufficient because of a lack of 
focus on resettlement issues and reviews. 

1.5. The 3 Boroughs which make up the West London Tri-Borough YOS are ethnically diverse, 
with between 42.0% and 58.5% of the population identified as belonging to black, Asian 
and minority ethnic communities. Diversity issues were generally identified and addressed 
well by case managers, and it was pleasing to see that there was a broad understanding 
of barriers to engagement, participation and achievement. 

2. Protecting the public 

2.1. The assessment of risk of harm to others was of sufficient quality in all but three of the 
sample. In most instances, staff looked beyond the current offence and drew on historic 
and non-criminal behaviours (e.g. aggression in the family home or bullying at school) to 
inform their assessments. Regular and effective use was also made of police intelligence 
and information from the Integrated Gangs Unit. Assessments of risk of harm were 
reviewed appropriately in 20 of 23 cases. Satisfactory engagement with Multi-Agency 
Public Protection Arrangements was in place for the single eligible case in the sample. 

2.2. The explanation of risk of harm provided in PSRs was good enough in 14 out of the 17 
examples inspected. 

2.3. Sufficient plans to address risk of harm were in place for 28 of 32 relevant cases. In the 
four which did not meet the criteria, the main weaknesses were deficiencies in planned 
responses and contingency measures to address identified risk. Reviews had been 
undertaken in all but 2 of 24 cases. Risk of harm plans were satisfactory in each of the 
relevant custodial cases. 

2.4. Where there had been an identifiable victim, the work to manage the risk posed by the 
child or young person was sufficient in nearly every case. 

Page 98



3 of 5 

2.5. The management oversight of risk of harm was judged to be good enough in 25 of 30 
cases. In the five unsatisfactory examples, deficits in plans and reviews had not been 
redressed. 

3. Protecting the child or young person 

3.1. We found a satisfactory assessment of safeguarding and vulnerability needs in 29 of the 
34 cases inspected. Reviews of assessments had been completed in the large majority of 
cases in which we judged they should have taken place. Commenting on information 
gathering in one case, an inspector found that: “…prior to being allocated, case 
administrators search through Framework-I (used by children's social care) and complete 
a summary of the key information. This aids case workers to have a better understanding 
of their case and ensure they are apprised of any pertinent historical information”. 

3.2. A clear and thorough assessment of safeguarding and vulnerability was found in all except 
one of the PSRs in the sample. 

3.3. Planning was carried out consistently well and we found sufficient plans in place for 28 of 
31 cases in which issues were identified, including all 9 custodial sentences. Although YOS 
responses or contingency plans were insufficient in a very small number of cases, we did 
find examples of good practice in planning: “The engagement of Geoff and his 
grandmother to develop a Personal Safety Plan and work through scenarios where conflict 
and offending arise was well thought through, coordinated well across the partnership 
with children services and the Focus Practice Team, and (had) the potential to improve 
motivation and engagement for release”. Reviews had also been completed in almost all 
relevant instances. 

3.4. Three of the case sample were Looked After Children. There was good evidence of 
effective communication, liaison and joint working with children’s social care and police to 
protect and safeguard the child or young person. The YOS had taken appropriate action in 
each of the nine cases where inspectors found potential indicators of child sexual 
exploitation. 

3.5. Management oversight of safeguarding and vulnerability had been sufficient in 23 of 28 
cases. 

4. Ensuring that the sentence is served 

4.1. The identification and understanding of diversity factors and barriers to engagement was 
sufficient almost all cases. Satisfactory engagement with children and young people and 
their parents/carers in the assessment process and preparation of PSRs was evidenced 
across the entire sample. 

4.2. There was consistently good evidence of work to identify and address diversity issues and 
barriers to engagement. One excellent piece of work cited by an inspector found: “…Hanif 
had a head injury (which) affected his speech and ability to understand…The case 
manager made great efforts to assist him to understand and learn. The attention to 
barriers to learning and complying in this case were extremely good. Hanif helped to 
create his own behaviour agreement which he 'owned' and was now complying with. This 
case was well-managed and attention to individual needs and barriers was of a very good 
standard”. 

4.3. The YOS had responded appropriately in all 12 cases in which compliance issues had been 
identified, including the use of formal warnings and, in some cases, the instigation of 
breach proceedings. 

Page 99



4 of 5 

Operational management 

In the course of the inspection we interviewed a total of 16 case managers. Staff were extremely 
positive about the quality of management support and the vast majority were of the view that 
their line manager had the relevant skills and knowledge to oversee and help them improve their 
work. There was also a consensus that training and development opportunities were available and 
accessible, although almost half felt they would benefit from more training around speech, 
language and communication needs. 

Regular management oversight of work was evidenced in the case record and the YOS had good 
quality assurance processes in place. 

Key strengths 

 Case managers had a strong understanding of the needs of, and risks presented by the 
children and young people they supervised. 

 Assessments and plans were completed consistently well. 

 PSRs and panel reports were of a good standard. 

 Workers effectively engaged with children and young people and their parents/carers. 

 The YOS worked well with other agencies and there was good evidence of effective liaison, 
information sharing and joint working with children’s services, police and the Integrated Gangs 
Unit. 

 Diversity issues and barriers to engagement were identified and addressed well. 

Areas requiring improvement 

 In a small number of cases, assessments and plans should be completed in a more timely 
fashion and in response to changes in a child or young person’s circumstances. 

 Some plans did not address identified areas of risk or vulnerability. 

 Management oversight should ensure the quality of assessments and plans. 

We are grateful for the support that we received from staff in the West London Tri-Borough YOS 
to facilitate and engage with this inspection. Please pass on our thanks, and ensure that they are 
made fully aware of these inspection findings. 

If you have any further questions about the inspection please contact the lead inspector, who was 
Colin Barnes. He can be contacted at colin.barnes@hmiprobation.gsi.gov.uk or on 07825 420119. 

Page 100



5 of 5 

Copy to: 

Head of West London Tri-Borough YOS Betty McDonald 

Local Authority Chief Executive: 

Westminster 

Hammersmith & Fulham 

Kensington and Chelsea 

 

Charlie Parker 

Nigel Palace 

Nicholas Holgate 

Director of Children’s Services Andrew Christie 

Lead Elected Member for Children’s Services: 

Westminster 

Hammersmith & Fulham 

Kensington and Chelsea 

 

Cllr. Danny Chalkley 

Cllr. Sue MacMillian, Cllr. Sue Fennimore 

Cllr. Elizabeth Campbell 

Lead Elected Member for Crime: 

Westminster 

Hammersmith & Fulham 

Kensington and Chelsea 

 

Cllr. Nickie Aiken 

Cllr. Mike Cartwright 

Cllr. Gardener 

Mayor of London Boris Johnson 

Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime Stephen Greenhalgh 

Chair of Local Safeguarding Children Board Jean Daintith 

Chair of Youth Court Bench Lord Fred Ponsenby 

YJB Business Area Manager Adam Mooney, Liz Westlund 

Ofsted – Further Education and Skills Sheila Willis 

Ofsted – Social Care Mary Candlin, Carolyn Adcock 

Ofsted – Links Lynn Radley, Caroline Prandas 

Care Quality Commission Fergus Currie 

YJB link staff Lisa Harvey-Messina, Paula Williams, Linda Paris, 
Julie Fox, Rowena Finnegan 

YJB Communications Ali Lewis, Rachel Brown, Summer Nisar, Adrian Stretch 

 

Note 1: As an independent inspectorate, HMI Probation provides assurance to Ministers and the 
public on the effectiveness of work with those who have offended or are likely to offend, promotes 
continuous improvement by the organisations that we inspect and contributes to the effectiveness 
of the criminal justice system. 

Note 2: We gather evidence against the SQS criteria, which are available on the HMI Probation 
website - http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation. 

Note 3: To request a paper copy of this report, please contact HMI Probation Communications at 
communications@hmiprobation.gsi.gov.uk or on 0161 240 5336. 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



     APPENDIX 3 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 103



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      

 

Page 104



These charts are solely for the information of the YOT and are not for publication 

Data charts from SQS visit to West London YOS 
34 cases were inspected during the SQS visit to West London YOS. The 
following charts summarise the key questions that were assessed. [NB: The 
total answers may not always equal 34, since some questions may not have 
been applicable to every case]. 
 

Reducing Reoffending

34

19

17

16

32

23

7

3

2

2

1

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

Was there sufficient assessment of the
reasons for offending? 

Was there sufficient review of the
assessment?  

Was a good quality pre-sentence report
provided to the court?  

Did the PSR give sufficient attention to
appropriate alternatives to custody?

Was there sufficient planning for work in
the community to reduce offending?  

Was there sufficient review of plans? 

In custodial cases was there sufficient
planning for the custodial phase of the

sentence?  

Yes
No

 

Protecting the Public

32

14

20

28

15

25

8

2

3

3

4

2

5

1

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

Was there sufficient assessment of the risk
of harm posed by the child or young

person?  

Did the pre-sentence report contain a clear
and thorough assessment of risk of harm   

Was there sufficient review of the
assessment?  

Was there sufficient planning for work to
manage risk of harm?  

Was there sufficient engagement with
MAPPA? 

Was the risk of harm to identifiable victims
effectively managed? 

Was oversight by management effective in
ensuring the quality of risk of harm work? 

In custodial cases was there sufficient
planning for risk of harm work during the

custodial period?  

Yes
No

 

Page 105



These charts are solely for the information of the YOT and are not for publication 

Protecting the Child or Young Person

29

16

19

28

21

23

9

5

3

3

2

5

1

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

Was there sufficient assessment of
vulnerability and Safeguarding?  

Did the pre-sentence report contain a clear
and thorough assessment of vulnerability

and safeguarding needs?   

Was there sufficient review of the
assessment?  

Was there sufficient planning for work to
address safeguarding and vulnerability?  

Was there sufficient review of plans?  

Was oversight by management effective in
ensuring the quality of safeguarding and

vulnerability work? 

In custodial cases was there sufficient
planning for safeguarding and vulnerability

work during the custodial period?  

Yes
No

 

Ensuring the Sentence is Served

32

34

17

32

32

30

12

2

2

2

1

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

Was there sufficient assessment of
diversity factors and barriers to

engagement? 

Was there sufficient engagement with the
child or young person, parents/carers or

significant others to carry out the
assessments? 

Did the pre-sentence report give sufficient
attention to barriers to engagement and

diversity factors?  

Did planning give sufficient attention to
barriers to engagement and diversity

factors? 

Were the child or young person and their
parent /carer or significant others

sufficiently involved in the planning? 

Was sufficient attention given to health
and well-being, in so far as this may act as
a barrier to successful outcomes from the

sentence? 

Was the YOT response to non-compliance
sufficient? 

Yes
No

 

Page 106


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Trackers and Work Programme
	04_Item_4b_Workprogprioritising report

	5 Cabinet Member for Sports and Leisure
	7 Promoting an Active Westminster: A Review of PE and School Sport in Westminster
	8 Ofsted Inspection Report: Children's Services and Youth Offending
	Appendix One
	08_Item_8a_Appendix 1
	The local authority
	Information about this local authority area
	Previous Ofsted inspections
	Local leadership
	Children living in this area
	Child protection in this area
	Children looked after in this area

	Recommendations
	1.
	Summary for children and young people

	The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB)
	Inspection findings – the Local Safeguarding Children Board

	Information about this inspection
	The inspection team


	Appendix Two
	09_Item_8b_Appendix 2
	Appendix Three
	10_Item_8c_Appendix 3


